Preliminary Transcript

STENOGRAPHIC MINUTES Unrevised and Unedited Not for Quotation or Duplication

HEARING ON THE ADMINISTRATION'S REGULATORY ACTIONS ON MEDICAID: THE EFFECTS ON PATIENTS, DOCTORS, HOSPITALS, AND STATES
Thursday, November 1, 2007

11101000,110,01110011,200

House of Representatives,

Committee on Oversight

and Government Reform,

Washington, D.C.

"This is a preliminary transcript of a Committee Hearing. It has not yet been subject to a review process to ensure that the statements within are appropriately attributed to the witness or member of Congress who made them, to determine whether there are any inconsistencies between the statements within and what was actually said at the proceeding, or to make any other corrections to ensure the accuracy of the record."

Committee Hearings

of the

U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES



OFFICE OF THE CLERK Office of Official Reporters

1 Court Reporting Services, Inc.

- 2 HGO305000
- 3 HEARING ON THE ADMINISTRATION'S
- 4 REGULATORY ACTIONS ON MEDICAID:
- 5 THE EFFECTS ON PATIENTS, DOCTORS,
- 6 HOSPITALS, AND STATES
- 7 Thursday, November 1, 2007
- 8 House of Representatives,
- 9 | Committee on Oversight
- 10 and Government Reform,
- 11 Washington, D.C.

12

13

14

19

The committee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m. in room 2157, Rayburn House Office Building, the Honorable Henry A. Waxman [chairman of the Committee] presiding.

Present: Representatives Waxman, Towns, Cummings,

16 Kucinich, Davis of Illinois, Watson, Higgins, Braley, Cooper,

17 Van Hollen, Hodes, Murphy, Sarbanes, Davis of Virginia,

18 Shays, Mica, Platts, Foxx, Sali, and Jordan.

Also Present: Representative Engel.

20 Staff Present: Phil Barnett, Staff Director and Chief

Counsel; Kristin Amerling, General Counsel; Karen Nelson, 21 22 Health Policy Director; Karen Lightfoot, Communications Director and Senior Policy Advisor; Andy Schneider, Chief 23 24 Health Counsel; Teresa Coufal, Deputy Clerk; Caren Auchman, 25 Press Assistant; Ella Hoffman, Press Assistant; Kerry 26 Gutknecht, Staff Assistant; Bret Schothorst, Staff Assistant; 27 Art Kellerman, Fellow; Tim Westmoreland, Consultant; Jennifer 28 Safavian, Minority Chief Counsel for Oversight and 29 Investigations; Kristina Husar, Minority Counsel; Patrick 30 Lyden, Minority Parliamentarian and Members Services Coordinator; Benjamin Chance, Minority Clerk. 31

Chairman WAXMAN. The meeting of the Committee will please come to order.

Throughout this year our Committee has held a series of hearings on making Government work again. We have focused on programs or agencies that once were effective but are now broken or dysfunctional. Today's hearing examines one of our Government's most important agencies, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services at the Department of Health and Human Services. Called CMS for short, the Agency is responsible for administering the Country's two largest health insurance programs, Medicare and Medicaid, which cover nearly 100 million Americans at a cost of over \$600 billion. As the largest single purchaser of health care in the Country, CMS has enormous power to do good or do harm.

Medicaid is funded jointly by the Federal Government and the States. It covers more than 60 million low-income Americans. Medicaid is the largest insurer of infants and children in the United States, covering more than 28 million kids. It is also the largest insurer of people with disabilities, covering almost 10 million people. Medicaid is the single largest source of funding for our Nation's public teaching hospitals, children's hospitals, and community health centers and public clinics--programs that benefit not only the poor, but everyone in their communities.

Unfortunately, little notice has been paid to a series

of Medicaid regulations proposed by the Administration over the last ten months, but these proposals would have enormous impacts. They are, in my opinion, a thinly disguised assault on the health care safety net. If implemented, they would cause major disruptions to State Medicaid programs and the people and institutions that depend on them.

In total, the proposals would shift at least \$11 billion in cost to State and local governments, the largest Medicaid regulatory cost shift in memory. Since these are Federal matching funds, the real cuts in programs at the local level could be at least twice this amount. This could force States to make a difficult choice: either raise taxes or cut vital services.

This morning our Committee will examine six rules the Bush Administration has proposed. Three of these proposed rules target some of our Nation's most vulnerable citizens by cutting funding and services to disabled children, disabled adults, and elementary school children. The other three would cut billions of dollars in Federal funding from some of our Nation's most vital health care institutions: teaching hospitals, safety net providers, and public hospitals that support trauma centers, burn units, and other vital but unprofitable programs that benefit everyone in the community, insured and uninsured, alike.

What is almost as troubling as the impact of these rules

82 |

is the manner in which they are being pursued. Some of these proposals have been proposed in the past, but when they were proposed 300 Members of the House and 55 Members of the Senate signed letters to Secretary Leavitt opposing the efforts.

Undeterred, CMS pressed ahead and proposed these regulations. During the 90 day comment period on the proposed rule, CMS received more than 400 negative comments. The bipartisan National Governors Association, bipartisan National Council of State Legislatures, bipartisan National Association of Counties, numerous State and county governments, and a large number of hospital organizations, professional associations, and consumer groups all raised concerns. Not one person wrote in support of the rule.

In response, Congress imposed a one year moratorium on CMS' authority to implement the rule. Despite all this, CMS is still moving ahead.

This rule that I am referring to is just one example. All of the proposed regulations are made up out of whole cloth by CMS. They are reinterpreting laws, some of which have not been changed in 40 years. These changes, in my opinion, are not anchored in statute. They do not have the support of the Congress, and they should deserve no deference from the courts.

These actions and the subsequent issuance of five more

proposals that shift an additional \$7 billion in costs to the States bring us to today's hearing. The first panel will describe the effects of these rules on individual Americans, their community providers, and the States. Dennis Smith after the, the official at CMS who wrote these regulations, will join us on the second panel.

I think that we need to look at what is happening very, very carefully at CMS, and I hope that they will look very carefully at the hearing record today, because, let's be clear, these regulations are not about program integrity. If they are redefining guidance and improving accountability, that would be one thing; but if they are prohibiting services that have been successful for decades in order to cut funding that Congress has specifically preserved, this is not a careful surgery on Medicaid, this is a reckless amputation.

I hope CMS will listen carefully to what our witnesses and the members of the Committee have to say about their proposals, and I hope they will go back to the drawing board. If there are truly fiscal integrity concerns that need to be addressed through new rules, this Committee would work with CMS to accomplish that goal. There is no other Committee that has been as active in trying to make sure that we have integrity in our fiscal management than this Committee has been.

I look forward to the witnesses, and I hope that this

132	hearing will have an impact.
133	I ask unanimous consent that my complete opening
134	statement be part of the record in its entirety. Without
135	objection, that will be the order.
136	[Prepared statement of Chairman Waxman follows:]
137	******

Chairman WAXMAN. Mr. Davis?

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Thank you. Mr. Chairman, I want to thank the Chairman for holding today's hearing to review six proposed Medicaid regulations.

I hope these hearings will examine the justification of the proposed changes and their potential impacts not only on the individual beneficiaries, but on the financial sovereignty of the program, as a whole. Preserving the integrity of Medicaid is of great importance to this Committee, and most importantly to millions that it serves.

Medicaid is one of the fastest-growing parts of the Federal budget. It is one of the fastest-growing parts of State budgets, as well. But it is also the safety net provider within the health system offering care to our most vulnerable citizens.

In 2006 over 63 million individuals relied on Medicaid program, including children, pregnant women, individuals with disabilities, and the elderly. Given the important role Medicaid plays in the health care system, Congress, States, and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, CMS, need to be vigilant stewards of Medicaid's financial resources.

Medicaid surpassed Medicare in 2002 to become the largest Government health care program. In 2005 the cost of providing this care exceeded \$300 billion, and it is projected to double in a decade. Such rapid growth strains

163 l

Federal and State budgets. Fraud and abuse, along with questionable financial arrangements, can contribute to this growth and possibly jeopardize legitimate Medicaid services.

Medicaid is jointly financed by State and Federal governments. The Federal share of funding is between 50 and 77 percent. While Federal participation is necessary and appropriate, this financing arrangement can incentivize States and providers to shift the cost of non-Medicaid services to the Medicaid program in order to obtain additional Federal funds.

While this is an understandable motivation, especially in light of the pressures on State budgets, it does put additional strain on the Medicaid program and it should be evaluated.

For these reasons and others, the GAO has placed Medicaid on its high-risk list. The GAO found that inadequate fiscal oversight has led to increased and unnecessary Federal spending. Specifically, GAO has pointed to schemes that leverage Federal funds improperly, and inappropriate billing of providers serving program beneficiaries as factors in this designation.

For this reason, I am pleased that Dr. Marjorie Kanof, the Managing Director of Health Care at GAO, is here to speak to these overriding risk factors and fraud and abuse concerns within the Medicaid system.

188

189

190

191

192

193

194

195

196

197

198

199

200

201

202

203

204

205

206

207

208

209

210

211

212

In the last year, CMS has issued a number of proposed Medicaid regulations. My opening statement doesn't afford me sufficient time to comment on all six. I look forward to an informative discussion that will hopefully lead to a more clear understanding of the genesis of these regulations and their impact on Medicaid beneficiaries, States, and providers.

I do understand that some of these regulations were, in part, prompted by CMS' concern about the diversion or inappropriate use of Medicaid funds that may not have violated the letter of the law or regulations but are inconsistent with the spirit of the program. For example, as detailed in the proposed rehabilitative services regulation, Medicaid funds have been used to pay for services in wilderness camps in which juveniles are involuntarily confined. It would seem such programs are primarily within the domain of the Justice System and would be provided by the State, regardless of the juvenile's Medicaid eliqibility. As such, juvenile detention wilderness camps may be better funded as part of State justice system as opposed to Medicaid health services.

As with any effort to improve fiscal integrity of the Medicaid program and address potentially inappropriate uses of scarce Medicare sources, a delicate balance must be achieved to ensure that legitimate needs and services of

213 beneficiaries are not, in fact, harmed.

I anticipate that a good portion of today's hearing will focus on whether or not CMS has struck the right balance in these proposed regulations, and I look forward to witnesses' feedback on this.

With that in mind, I want to thank today's witnesses for participating in this hearing, and I want to thank the chairman for calling it.

[Prepared statement of Mr. Davis of Virginia follows:]

222 ******** INSERT *******

214

215

216

217

218

219

220

221

223 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Davis. 224 Without objection, since we have eight members on the 225 first panel, I would like to proceed without any further 226 opening statements. 227 Let me ask unanimous consent that Congressman Elliott 228 Engel, who is not a member of our Committee, may wish to join 229 us, and I would ask unanimous consent he be permitted to 230 participate in this hearing. 231 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. No objection. 232 Chairman WAXMAN. That will be the order. 233 Now we are going to receive testimony from the witnesses 234 on our first panel. 235 Mr. David Parrella is the Director of Medical care 236 Administration for the Connecticut Department of Social 237 Services. He is testifying on behalf of the National 238 Association of State Medicaid Directors. Ms. Barbara Miller is a resident of Rockville, Maryland. 239 240 Ms. Miller is a former Medicaid beneficiary who benefitted 241 from rehabilitation services, and she is testifying on behalf 242 of the National Council for Community Behavioral Health Care.

Ms. Twila Costigan is Program Manager for the Adoption

Intermountain is a nonprofit organization that

and Family Support Program at Intermountain in Helena,

provides services to children under severe emotional

distress. She is testifying on behalf of the Child Welfare

243

244

245

246

247

Montana.

248 League of America.

Ms. Denise Herrmann is a school nurse with St. Paul public schools in St. Paul, Minnesota. She regularly works with the Medicaid children in the St. Paul school system.

She is testifying on behalf of the National Association of School Nurses.

Mr. Alan Aviles is President of the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation. He is testifying on behalf of the National Association of Public Hospitals.

Dr. Sheldon Retchin is Vice President for Health
Services at the Virginia Commonwealth University Medical
College in Richmond, Virginia. He is testifying on behalf of
the American Association of Medical Colleges.

Dr. Angela Gardner is a practicing Emergency Physician at the University of Texas Medical Branch in Galveston,

Texas, and she is testifying on behalf of the American

College of Emergency Physicians.

Last but not least, Dr. Marjorie Kanof is Managing
Director of Health Care for the Government Accountability
Office in Washington, D.C. She is testifying on behalf of
the GAO.

I welcome all of you. You are, of course, testifying from your own personal knowledge and experiences, as well as on behalf of other organizations who share your point of view. We thank all of you for being here.

It has been the practice of this Committee that all witnesses that testify before us are asked to be put under oath, and so I would like to ask each if you if you will to please rise and raise your right hand.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Chairman WAXMAN. The record will indicate that each of the witnesses answered in the affirmative.

We have prepared statements from you, and those statements will be made part of the record in their entirety. What we would like to ask each of you to do is to limit the oral presentation to no more than five minutes. You will have a clock in the center. It will be green. When there is one minute left, it will turn yellow. And then when the five minutes are up, it will turn red. We would like you at that point to conclude your testimony.

I know you have a lot to say, and it is difficult to say in such a short period of time, but it is the only way we can hear from everybody and get questions and answers. But the whole statement will be in the record expressing all of your views, which is what I did in my opening statement, because I have a lot of strong views on this subject which I had in the opening statement, and I want it to be in the record.

Mr. Parrella?

296 STATEMENTS OF DAVID PARRELLA, DIRECTOR, MEDICAL CARE 297 ADMINISTRATION, DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES, STATE OF CONNECTICUT, HARTFORD, CONNECTICUT, AND CHAIR, EXECUTIVE 298 299 COMMITTEE, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE MEDICAID DIRECTORS (ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF STATE MEDICAID 300 301 DIRECTORS); BARBARA MILLER (ON BEHALF OF NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR 302 COMMUNITY BEHAVIORAL HEALTHCARE); TWILA COSTIGAN, PROGRAM 303 MANAGER, ADOPTION AND FAMILY SUPPORT PROGRAM, INTERMOUNTAIN, 304 HELENA, MONTANA (ON BEHALF OF THE CHILD WELFARE LEAGUE OF AMERICA); DENISE HERRMANN, SAINT PAUL PUBLIC SCHOOLS, SAINT 305 306 PAUL, MINNESOTA (ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 307 SCHOOL NURSES); ALAN AVILES, PRESIDENT, NEW YORK CITY HEALTH 308 AND HOSPITALS CORPORATION (ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONAL 309 ASSOCIATION OF PUBLIC HOSPITALS); SHELDON RETCHIN, VICE 310 PRESIDENT FOR HEALTH SCIENCES AND CEO OF HEALTH SYSTEM, 311 VIRGINIA COMMONWEALTH UNIVERSITY, RICHMOND, VIRGINIA (ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL COLLEGES); 312 ANGELA GARDNER, ATTENDING EMERGENCY PHYSICIAN, UNIVERSITY OF 313 TEXAS MEDICAL BRANCH, GALVESTON, TEXAS, AND VICE PRESIDENT, 314 315 AMERICAN COLLEGE OF EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS (ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN COLLEGE OF EMERGENCY PHYSICIANS); MARJORIE KANOF, 316 MANAGING DIRECTOR, HEALTH CARE, GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY 317 318 OFFICE

STATEMENT OF DAVID PARRELLA

319

Mr. PARRELLA. Thank you, Chairman Waxman. Good morning Congressman Davis, Members of the Committee. My name is David Parrella. For the past ten years I have had the privilege of serving as Connecticut's Director of Medical Care Administration. I am currently the Chairman of the National Association of State Medicaid Directors, an affiliate of the American Public Human Services Association.

Thank you for the opportunity to speak briefly with you today about the recent spate of regulations promulgated by my colleagues at the Federal Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, known as CMS.

Let me be clear that, regardless of our differences on these issues, I do regard Dennis Smith and his staff at CMS as colleagues, and I share their commitment to be good custodians of the public dollars that we spend on health care.

Let me begin by summarizing the broad mission of the Medicaid program, which is a State and Federal partnership to provide health care to the neediest and most vulnerable populations in our country.

Medicaid currently provides comprehensive coverage to over 63 million Americans. It is the single largest payer for the long-term care costs that are perhaps the greatest

economic challenge that we face in health care as members of my own generation approach retirement.

But Medicaid is more than a long-term care program. It is generally the largest health care program, if not the largest program, period, in most State budgets. It provides support and services for millions of Americans with a wide range of disabilities that enables them to live independent lives in the community. It is the single largest payer of mental health services, the largest purchaser in the Nation of pharmaceuticals, and the source of health insurance coverage for most of the Nation's working poor.

As you debate the future of the State children's health insurance program, please remember that Medicaid is the largest source of care for children in low-income families and is the largest payer in most States for maternity and prenatal care.

Across this immense landscape of health care delivery that is literally from cradle to grave, Medicaid programs have been encouraged, and in many cases mandated, by Congress to work in partnership with other State and Federal programs that touch upon the same populations. Teaching hospitals and substance abuse programs, programs for children with special education requirements and developmental delays, programs for children in the child welfare system, residential placements for postal with developmental disabilities, community-based

services for persons with mental illness and HIV, child immunization programs and outreach programs to schools to reach DDN-entitled children. All these programs have benefitted from collaboration with Medicaid programs around the Country as a source of Federal matching funds to help States meet the mandates placed upon them by Federal laws regarding the early and periodic screening, diagnosis, and treatment program--known as EPSDT--IDEA, the Americans with Disabilities Act, et cetera.

We have done so economically. National budget figures show a very low rate of growth of 2.9 percent in the Medicaid program in fiscal year 2007. Providers will tell you that the rates that we pay for health care services are far from exorbitant. Furthermore, we manage the program in an indirect cost rate that would be the envy of any CEO in the private market.

So, despite the occasional messiness that ensues in a program of this size, we are not a runaway train on spending. Yet, in recent months, we have experienced a stealthy release of regulation after regulation seeking to reduce the scope and breadth of the Medicaid program. We have seen regulations that would limit facilities that could be reimbursed as public facilities, that would eliminate payment for graduate medical education, regulations that would impose burdensome new accounting measures on the funding for

community-based services, and limit the ability to partner with the schools, where millions of Medicaid-eligible children can be enrolled and served.

CMS is seeking to place new limits on how States are able to raise their required State's share for the Federal match, and perhaps most disturbingly, CMS is attempting to redefine what services can be covered under Medicaid as part of the rehabilitation State plan option, likely the single greatest vehicle for creativity and the design of programs for persons with life-long needs.

Now, CMS officials will tell you that they do not seek to harm the Medicaid program, and I am sure they are sincere in this belief. Their rationale is based largely on a two-part premise that allowing Federal matching funds under Medicaid for these purposes is inevitably too tempting for the States and will lead them to create arcane schemes to draw down excess Federal revenues for services that were traditionally a State responsibility.

Let me say here, as someone who has worked in Medicaid for the past 20 years, that they have a legitimate concern regarding program integrity, especially when times are tight in State budgets. But the other part of the premise is simply wrong. They maintain that the elimination of \$20 billion in Federal Medicaid funding for Medicaid administration activities in schools or rehabilitation

services for children with developmental delays or graduate medical education is appropriate because these activities were never intended to be part of Medicaid, despite decades of approved State plan amendments across the Nation.

CMS' argument continues that 'If States want to fund these activities, they can simply appropriate more money. Special education is purely the responsibility of the Education Department. Services for persons with mental illness should be under the purview of SAMHSA, and disease prevention under Public Health, and medical education is limited to funds appropriated in the budgets of the State teaching hospitals.''

However, there is no new appropriation on the horizon to replace Medicaid funding for these services through Federal IDA legislation or elsewhere, and Medicaid is simply reduced in the scope of its activities.

It is surprising that this philosophy should come at a time when most experts in the field would say that the Nation's health care system is in a state of crisis. The emergency rooms of our teaching hospitals are bursting at the seams as they try to provide both emergency and non-emergency care to 47 million Americans who have no health insurance.

A greater awareness of autism and spectrum disorders and mental illness among very young children has placed a strain on the entire mental health system. Persons with

disabilities are struggling to find more creative alternatives to live independent and productive lives. A retrenchment by Medicaid will only make these struggles more difficult for millions of Americans at a time when no comprehensive reform of the health care system is even on the horizon.

We are apparently unable to agree on what income levels should qualify a child to receive assistance with health care under S-CHIP, much less comprehensive health reform.

As Chair of the National Association of State Medicaid Directors, I applaud your efforts to review some of the changes that CMS officials have placed. I further appeal to you to continue your efforts to expand the moratoriums that you have already placed on some of these regulatory initiatives. It is the belief outstanding the National Association of State Medicaid Directors that these issues need to be part of a broader debate on the future of health care here in these chambers. On many of these issues you did debate them during the discussion that led to the Deficit Reduction Act and chose not to act.

Please do not allow CMS to further limit the ability of the States to derive their share of Medicaid from taxes imposed on medical providers.

Please do not allow CMS to eliminate the option for States to use Medicaid funding to pay for graduate medical

468 education.

Please do not permit CMS officials to jeopardize the future of children with developmental disabilities by subjecting the services they receive to an artificial distinction between having lost their cognitive abilities or never having had them at all.

Please do not force persons with disabilities back into institutional settings because States cannot match cost report standards for the community-based services they receive to a Medicare institutional standard.

Please do not cut off information gathered by school personnel from helping States to determine eligibility for their programs.

Please do not dictate to States what facilities can be designated units of government for reimbursement purposes.

And Please do not take hospital reimbursement back to the future by mandating retro cost-based methodologies.

[Prepared statement of Mr. Parrella follows:]

486 ******** INSERT *******

487 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Parrella. I gave you a 488 little extra time. 489 Mr. PARRELLA. Sorry, Mr. Chairman. 490 Chairman WAXMAN. I appreciate that testimony on behalf of all the States that are running the program actually at 491 492 the State level, which is, of course, a Federal and State 493 program. Thank you very much. 494 Ms. Miller, we would like to hear from you.

495 | STATEMENT OF BARBARA MILLER

Ms. MILLER. Chairman Waxman and distinguished members of the Committee, thank you for the opportunity to testify this morning on behalf of the National Council for Community Behavioral Health Care. My name is Barbara Miller.

Today I am on the road to recovery from a serious mental illness. I am a program assistant at the Hearing Loss Association of America. Before starting that job, I did a lot of volunteer work for senior citizens and people with physical disabilities. I am also deaconess in the Word of Hope Fellowship Church. At the church I volunteer as assistant director of the youth department. There is a teenage girl in my apartment building who needs a steady, sensible adult influence, and I am trying to provide that to her as a mentor.

But my future didn't always look so bright. I was first diagnosed with bipolar disorder in the early 1970s. I lived in the Springfield State Hospital in Sykesville, Maryland, for two and a half years. Chairman Waxman, it was a terrible experience. The doctors there struggled to give me a proper diagnosis, and I have to tell you the truth: it was like living in a warehouse.

That is what happened to most people with serious mental.

illnesses in the 1960s and the 1970s: they were warehoused in State mental hospitals.

However, with the help of treatment, rehabilitation, and housing provided by Threshold Services in Montgomery County, Maryland, I got where I am today.

When I first started participating in rehabilitation services in 1990, I received assertive community treatment at a house where I lived with several other people. Staff would come out regularly to check on me, measure progress on my treatment plan, and see how I was responding to medications. They always provided training about living with mental illness to the pastor and his wife who ran the house.

Some time ago, I moved to the Halpine Apartments. It was a huge step for me because it was the first time I had lived on you own for many, many years.

Threshold Services provided counseling to me during the transition and offered groups where people could support each other and not become isolated.

Threshold Services runs a residential rehabilitation program and off-site psychiatric rehabilitation teams which serve a combined total of 250 people. These rehabilitation programs are important because they prepare people with serious and persistent mental disorders to go back to work and cope with life in the community. Threshold also helps 40 people choose, get, and keep jobs where they work side by

side with non-disabled individuals through their supportive employment initiative, in partnership with St. Luke's House. This is tremendously impressive, because the nationwide unemployment rate among people with severe mental illnesses exceeds 80 percent.

Finally, Threshold has a psycho-educational day program that aims to develop community living skills and improve interpersonal relationships.

With the help of treatment, rehabilitation, and housing provided by Threshold services, I got to where I was to where I am, and now Threshold services helps me maintain my success. So now I give back as a member of the board of directors. God and the members of my church are with me all the way. It takes a lot of faith in God to persevere. Now I give back as a deaconess and assistant youth director in the church.

I was supported by public assistance; now I give back by working and paying taxes.

Mr. Chairman, I am told by the National Council that almost every service that you have heard me describe during this testimony--assertive community treatment, psychiatric rehabilitation, and psycho-educational day programs--are in jeopardy because of a new rehabilitation option rule. In addition to medication and therapy, it is worth noting that these rehabilitation services permit people like me to live

in the community and make a contribution to the community.

If the Federal Government withdraws financing from them, many more people with serious mental disorders will end up in emergency rooms, inpatient hospitals, nursing homes, or in the prison system.

I want to conclude this testimony with a simple plea:
please don't send people with mental illnesses back to places
like Springfield State Hospital. We have fought too hard and
we have come too far to go back now.

[Prepared statement of Ms. Miller follows:]

578 ******** INSERT *******

579		Chairm	an	WAXMAN.	Thank	you	very	much,	Ms.	Miller,	for
580	that	testim	on	у.							
581		Ms. Co	st	igan?							

582 | STATEMENT OF TWILA COSTIGAN

Ms. COSTIGAN. Good morning, Mr. Chairman, members of the Committee. My name is Twila Costigan. I live in Helena, Montana, and I just want to make it clear that we do have plumbing in Montana. Even though we live way out there in the west, we do have it.

I am here on behalf of the Child Welfare League of America, the Montana Children's Initiative--which is a group of providers across the State of Montana--and Intermountain Children's Home.

Intermountain Children's Home is a magical place where we seek to restore hope to children and their families. We deal only with children with serious emotional disturbance.

I am going to talk to you a little bit about how kids get to be SED, or seriously emotionally disturbed. I want to talk to you about two kids. One's name is Johnny, the other's name is Susie.

Johnny is a young infant. As we all know, the first three years is when your brain is going crazy up there wiring, making you who you are going to be, giving you the skills that you will need to be successful in the community.

Johnny lays in his crib and he cries because he needs his diaper changed, because he is hungry, because he is just

not comfortable with where his mom is, or his caregiver is. Somebody comes to Johnny. Somebody picks Johnny up, and somebody looks at Johnny and says, you are beautiful. You are my son. You belong. I love you.

I want to talk about Susie next. Susie cries because she is hungry or she needs her diaper changed or she's just not comfortable with where people are. She doesn't feel safe. For Susie, people don't come often enough. People don't pick her up and look in her eyes and talk to her and tell her that she is beautiful and that she is loved and that she belongs. Susie will probably some day be a seriously emotionally disturbed child, removed from her birth home, in the custody of the State, placed in foster care homes, maybe more than one. The average placement is three.

For Susie and for Johnny and for each and every one of us, we are born with a drive to have relationships with other people. It is what we are here for.

After a while, kids like Susie quit crying. Nobody is taking care of them, and they are not going to let anybody into their world. These are the kids who are most severely disfigured by adults in their life. Susie is driven to attach, to connect with this other human being. For our seriously emotionally disturbed kids, most of the time that adult that they are driven to attach to is the one who provides the trauma that leads to the serious emotional

630 disturbance.

In Montana we have a continuum of care. We provide services in the home, in the birth home, to try to keep kids in the home, which is always the best option. We have short-term foster care. Some of those kids are placed in adoptive care. The seriously emotionally disturbed children are a very small percentage of the kids who are in foster care. Most of those kids either go back to their birth home--about 77 percent in Montana--or a relative, or they are returned to their other parent. A small percentage of them are adopted.

For our program, the rehabilitative services allow us to help these kids to bring hope into their lives, to provide in-home services, to help their parents learn how to deal with them. Our continuum of care is the preservation in the beginning, in the birth home, foster care, therapeutic foster care, therapeutic group home care, residential treatment. The rehab services are a huge piece of the funding of therapeutic foster care and therapeutic group homes.

It is really important for these kids to have some hope, and so I ask you, as you deliberate, as you think about this, think about Susie, who cried and cried and cried and nobody came to help her. Keep the rehab services intact and allow places like Intermountain and other wonderful places across the Nation to provide hope to these children who are our most

655	vulnerable citizens and dependent on us as adults.
656	Thank you.
657	[Prepared statement of Ms. Costigan follows:]
658	****** INSERT ******

659 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Ms. Costigan.
660 Ms. Herrmann?

661 STATEMENT OF DENISE HERRMANN

Ms. HERRMANN. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Davis, and members of the Committee, my name is Denise Herrmann and I am a school nurse from St. Paul, Minnesota. I am privileged to be here today representing the National Association of School Nurses on this critical issue of Medicaid funding regulations.

I commend the Committee for bringing attention to the fact that the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services have been issuing proposed rules that, if finalize, will negatively impact the lives of school children and the practice of school nursing.

Through my testimony I hope I can explain how school nurses are involved with Medicaid administrative claiming in the areas of eligibility, enrollment, and referrals, and perhaps the best way to do this is to tell you the stories of school nurses, children, and families from across the United States.

Healthy children learn better. School nurses are doing everything they can within Medicaid regulations to enroll eligible children and make appropriate medical referrals. How do we work with Medicaid eligibility? Parents routinely ask school nurses, Where do I go to begin this process of applying for Medicaid? How do I know my child's eligible?

How do I enroll?

Our school nurses located in Chairman Waxman's District tell us that in this past month 18 families have gotten medical assistance through the case management and case work of school nurses. This is an appropriate use of Medicaid claiming dollars. They are helping children access much-needed medical and dental care and are keeping them out of expensive and time-consuming emergency health care facilities.

Regarding enrollment, here is a scenario that happens regularly in my district. I call a mother and I say, Your child is in my office. This is the second time today. Their asthma is out of control. They are coughing. They are wheezing, and their emergency medication doesn't seem to be working.

I ask the mother, Are they taking their regular controller medication that prevents asthma attacks? No. We stopped a month ago. We lost our health insurance and it costs \$120 to get that medication this month. I was hoping he would get by without. And can you keep him in school, because I can't afford to miss work to come and get him.

I remind her that her son was hospitalized a year ago because he hadn't been on his controller medications and I make a promise then to help her find health care for her child and get in one of the State programs.

Health needs and problems are not something children leave at home. They come to school for six to eight hours a day with their health needs and their problems. Parents feel comfortable and they trust the school nurse. It is the school nurse who is often the child's first and only access into that health care system. If society doesn't want our children to be left behind, then we need to be there to help them to be healthy, stay in school, and achieve academic success.

Here is a typical referral example for a little girl I will call Amanda. She is a second grader and has type I diabetes and she needs insulin injections four to six times a day and has to test her blood sugar six to eight times.

After being gone six months, she came back to our school district without any health insurance. Her diabetes is out of control. The mom had no supplies to test her blood sugar, and only enough insulin to last a week, and no money to buy any more.

It was the school nurse who managed Amanda's care and worked closely with a local clinic to obtain insulin supplies, insulin samples, syringes, test strips so that diabetes could be brought under control. These actions prevented Amanda from being hospitalized over the next five months until she was eventually covered by Medicaid.

Members of this Committee, I know you must have to deal

with lots of tedious and faceless numbers and regulations regarding this issue. I want to put one more face on this. True story, a little girl I will call Ann. Her dad came to enroll her in our school district and she had a heart condition, and the nurse began the paperwork to get her enrolled in Medicaid, but in the meantime had to find a cardiologist who would see her and give her the medication she needed. Members, it is very hard to find a cardiologist who will take care of a kid without health insurance.

I am happy to report that Ann is healthy and doing well today, but without the school nurse's persistence and intervention this family would have had to pursue much more expensive health care, such as a hospitalization or an emergency room visit for a condition that was treated by outpatient care.

In addition, the process for this successful outcome would not have happened if the proposed rule to eliminate Medicaid administrative claiming by schools was in place.

From these examples, I hope you will understand why our association is in disagreement with the CMS position that school-based administrative activities performed by school nurses fail to meet the statutory test of being necessary for the proper and efficient administration of a State plan.

According to the Kaiser Commission, children represent half of all Medicaid enrollees, but only account for 17

percent of total program spending. Therefore, children are by no means draining the fund.

On behalf of the National Association of School Nurses, I implore this Committee to do whatever they can to let CMS know the harm that would occur by changing certain Medicaid regulations for administration claiming. It is painfully obvious to school nurses, as we work in these public systems, that by eliminating the Federal financial participation for school-based administrative claiming, the health needs of innocent children will go unmet and preventable consequences will be long-lasting for families and society.

Thank you. I appreciate this opportunity to testify.

[Prepared statement of Ms. Herrmann follows:]

772 ******** INSERT *******

773 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much for your testimony.

Mr. Van Hollen, I know you tried to get here in time to hear Ms. Miller's testimony. Do you want to say anything at

776 this time?

777

778

779

780

781

782

783

784

785

786

787

788

789

Mr. VAN HOLLEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I apologize for being late. I had a prior commitment, but I did also want to welcome my constituent, Barbara Miller. Thank you for your testimony. I had a chance to read your testimony, and I am so pleased you could be here to tell your story as we make these important decisions.

I also want to thank Threshold Services for all that they do in our community. I see Craig Nowel, the Executive Director, and I want to welcome him and thank them for all the rehabilitation services they provided and allow people like you to be able to tell your story here today. Thank you for all that you have done to share with us today.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Van Hollen.

790 Mr. Aviles?

791 STATEMENT OF ALAN AVILES

Mr. AVILES. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. I am Alan Aviles, President of HHC, the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation. I am pleased to have this opportunity to testify this morning on behalf of NAPH, the National Association of Public Hospitals and Health Systems.

NAPH is deeply concerned about the severe adverse impact of all of the regulations you are reviewing today. I will focus my attention this morning primarily on the Medicaid cost limit regulation, which is subject to a Congressionally adapted one year moratorium until May of 2008. If that regulation is permitted to go into effect, it has the potential to devastate essential safety net hospitals and health systems in many parts of the Country.

In addition to the Medicaid cost limit regulation, HHC and other NAPH members will be severely impacted by the proposed CMS rule affecting graduate medical education and a proposed Medicaid outpatient payment regulation that CMS recently published.

Let me begin by briefly describing my own organization.

HHC is the largest municipal health care system in the

Country. We provide health care to 1.3 million New Yorkers

every year. Nearly 400,000 have no health insurance. We operate eleven acute care hospitals, four skilled nursing facilities, six large diagnostic and treatment centers, more than eighty community health centers, and a home health program.

More than 60 percent of our budget comes from Medicaid. HHC's facilities provide nearly 20 percent of all general hospital discharges and 40 percent of all inpatient and hospital-based outpatient mental health services in New York City. One-third of New York City's emergency room visits occur in HHC hospitals, and we provide five million outpatient visits every year.

My submitted written testimony describes the situation of other NAPH member hospitals nationally and also details billions of dollars in potential Medicaid cuts facing those hospitals as a result of these regulations.

Let me briefly touch upon the potential impact of those cuts on the vulnerable patient populations and communities we serve.

While it is not always possible to predict with precision which services will be reduced or eliminated, I can give you a few examples of decisions that might be required if public hospitals are faced with Medicaid cuts of this magnitude.

We believe the impact in New York of the reduced costs

and limit regulations would be upwards of \$200 million per year. Faced with cuts of that magnitude, we would have to dismantle significant components of our ambulatory care system and scale down our emergency departments. These Medicaid funds help to support our extensive primary care network that prioritizes prevention, early detection of disease, and engagement of patients in the management of their chronic conditions.

These funds also support the provision of prescription medications to hundreds of thousands of low-income New Yorkers, and the operations of our eleven public hospital's emergency departments and six trauma centers rely heavily on Medicaid funding.

In California Dr. Bruce Chernoff, CEO of the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services has said, ''It is the equivalent to shutting down all the outpatient clinics we own and operate, as well as those we contract with in the community.''

Gene Marie O'Connell, San Francisco General Hospital CEO and Chair of NAPH, states, 'San Francisco General Hospital is just holding its head above water with the current rates. The impact from the Medicaid cost limit rule means the loss of \$24 million, and from the GME rule an additional \$5 million. If these rules become reality, we would need to close three nursing units, or 90 beds out of 550 beds, which

would have a dire impact on services to the residents of San Francisco.''

In Colorado, Dr. Patricia Gabow, Denver Health CEO and Medical Director, states, 'We need Congress to stop these rules. The impact of this rule on Denver health would be devastating. We might as well turn over the keys. We would no longer be able to serve as the major safety net system for Denver and Colorado and the region. The health of the entire community will be compromised through the impact on our trauma system, our disaster preparedness, and public health.''

Mr. Chairman, my submitted written testimony includes numerous other examples from around the Country. For this reason, it is imperative that Congress act now to stop these rules and to reaffirm your role in setting Medicaid policy for this Country. We believe that CMS ignored Congress and violated Federal law by moving forward to implement several of these Medicaid regulations. We need the Congress to move quickly by the end of this calendar year to prohibit CMS from implementing the Medicaid cost limit, GME, and Medicaid outpatient regulations.

We strongly urge the members of this Committee to support and co-sponsor H.R. 3533, a bill introduced by New York Congressman Elliott Engel and Sue Myrick, which had 133 co-sponsors as of this past Monday.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Aviles.

Mr. Towns?

Mr. TOWNS. Let me just say, first off, thank you so much for being here. He heads the largest public hospital system in the United States. Of course, I am delighted for you to come and share with us your views and we hope to be able to talk further as we move forward into the question and answer period. I want to thank you so much for taking time from your busy schedule to come to share with us today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield back.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Towns. Thank you very much, Mr. Aviles.

Dr. Retchin?

907 | STATEMENT OF SHELDON RETCHIN

Dr. RETCHIN. Thank you, Chairman Waxman, Mr. Davis, members of the Committee. I am Sheldon Retchin. I am Vice President for Health Sciences at Virginia Commonwealth University and CEO of the VCU Health System in Richmond, Virginia. I am here to testify before the Committee about the detrimental impact of the proposed CMS rule to eliminate Federal matching payments for graduate medical education, or GME, under the Medicaid program.

I am also here on behalf of the Association of American Medical Colleges and I want to put a face to the devastating consequences these cuts would have on the Nation's teaching hospitals.

The VCU Health System is really two health systems. On the one hand it is a tertiary care center and is the region's only level one trauma center, and one of only two burn centers in the entire Commonwealth of Virginia. We perform solid organ transplants and attract referrals from not only across the Commonwealth, but all up and down the Mid-Atlantic region.

On the other hand, we are also a primary provider of hospital and intensive services and primary care services for inner-city Richmond. Let me tell you why.

Over the past three decades, there has been a migration of approximately 750 hospital beds from the city of Richmond to the surrounding suburbs. These beds were not replaced and, in fact, led to the closure of four major hospitals in the city of Richmond, three of which relocated into more affluent suburbs. So today the VCU Health System is the last remaining health system with a major hospital in the inner city, downtown Richmond.

So what happens is we take care of the inner city of Richmond, and during the past year we had 8,400 hospital discharges covered by Medicaid, 26 percent of all hospital inpatient work. Medicaid beneficiaries crowd our emergency rooms, they overwhelm our clinics. We had 65,000 outpatient Medicaid visits this past year. And that is not the whole story. In addition to the Medicaid population, the VCU provides a significant amount of care for low-income but income too high to be eligible for Medicaid. These are indigent patients.

So, taken together, Medicaid and indigent care represent about 45 percent of all the care our teaching hospital provides. So this devotion to care for the disadvantaged in our region is unrivaled.

Now, we do this judiciously. We are very careful stewards of these precious resources, and, not only that, we are innovators. So we contract with primary care physicians

in the community to decompress the emergency room, and we contract with those inner-city community physicians, about 30 different practices, with funds that are not even Medicaid. That is because we want to be judicious, and we are doing this and putting band-aids as much as we can on the solution.

Believe me, this is a safety net, not a safety hammock.

CMS suggests that the Medicaid program should not make payments towards the cost of graduate medical education. The timing of this proposal is especially perplexing. As you all know, the Nation faces a looming physician shortage in conjunction with the rise in the health care demands that are being placed on it by baby boomers. This rule would undo a history of support that stretches back more than two decades.

During this time, CMS has long recognized graduate medical education as a legitimate and authorized Medicaid expenditure, has consistently approved State plans for this expenditure, and has always matched Medicaid GME payments along the way.

In 2005, 47 States and the District of Columbia made and provided GME payments under the Medicaid program. In Virginia this past year we received \$6.7 million in direct GME Medicaid costs.

I assure you, Virginia's Medicaid funding for GME is a Federal-State partnership split 50/50, so you have to ask why so many States like Virginia are making this commitment to

980 l

graduate medical education that are now proposed for Federal reduction. That is because sustenance of the physician workforce is at least as important, if not more so, for Medicaid beneficiaries than it is for Medicare.

While adequate access is vulnerable for beneficiaries of both programs, I can assure you that physician Medicaid participation in most States is even more sensitive than Medicare to the workforce supply.

Over the past 20 years, despite modest health care reforms, unfortunately we have made little progress reducing the total number of our citizens who remain uninsured. That certainly has had its consequences in downtown Richmond. Employer-based coverage has eroded during the past seven years, as we all know, and most of the uninsured and Medicaid beneficiaries are hard-working Americans who are either self-employed or employed by businesses, small businesses who cannot afford health care coverage for its employees.

With all due respect, I feel like we are walking up a down escalator. These cuts will merely unravel the safety net yet further and make health reform and expanded coverage that much harder to accomplish in the horizon ahead.

With 47 million Americans uninsured and another 40 million Americans on Medicaid or under-insured, the safety net is stretched tight, and the teaching hospitals are holding the corners.

I thank you for the opportunity to testify today. The teaching hospital community greatly appreciated the one year moratorium preventing regulatory action on this rule until May of 2008, and we contend that this moratorium may have already been violated. We are also very grateful to Representatives Engel and Myrick and over 133 bipartisan co-sponsors for advocating in support of the Public and Teaching Hospital Preservation Act to extend the moratorium for an additional year.

My fellow teaching hospital and medical school leaders and the Association of American Medical Colleges look forward to working closely with you on these issues which are of such importance to the health and well-being of all Americans.

Thank you.

[Prepared statement of Dr. Retchin follows:]

1020 ********* INSERT *******

1021 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Dr. Retchin
1022 Dr. Gardner?

1023 STATEMENT OF ANGELA GARDNER

Dr. GARDNER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee. My name is Dr. Angela Gardner. I am an Assistant Professor at the University of Texas Medical Branch in Galveston. I have been providing emergency care to Texans for more than 20 years. I am also Vice President of the Board of Directors for the American College of Emergency Physicians, ACEP. We represent 25,000 emergency physicians in 53 chapters across the Nation.

I would like to thank you for allowing me to testify today on behalf of ACEP to discuss the impact on vulnerable populations and safety net hospitals if CMS is allowed to reduce Medicaid payments to States by approximately \$5 billion, as it has proposed to do in the regulatory process. Today I would like to share with you several important factors that make the care received in the emergency department unique and how the proposed Medicaid cuts will further erode access to life-saving emergency medical care in Texas and the rest of the Nation.

Actually, I would like to tell you a story.

I worked in the emergency department on Tuesday night, and on my arrival all 48 of my beds were full. We had 22 patients in the hallway. We had 14 patients in the waiting

room. We had three ambulances unloading and two helicopters waiting to land. That is a normal day. And, as I hear from Dr. Retchin and Mr. Aviles, that is a normal day in New York and Denver and San Francisco, as well.

When I arrived, 25 percent of my beds were taken up by patients who were waiting on a bed inside the hospital, four of those on respirators waiting on ICU beds. This is a normal Tuesday night.

At midnight I got a patient who arrived to me comatose from the back seat of his mother's car. He had been driven 250 miles to my emergency department to get our care. I will call this man Norman to preserve his privacy.

Norman had been having headaches for about a month. On the third week, when his right hand wouldn't work any more and he started vomiting, his mother said, you have to go to the hospital. They went to the emergency department at their local hospital, where he was diagnosed with a brain tumor on the left side of his brain.

They don't have a neurosurgeon at this hospital--and this is a regular-sized city--so they called UTMB for a transfer. We accepted the patient to neurosurgical service.

Unfortunately, we didn't have a bed. The process is he has been put on a list to get a bed when one becomes available.

After waiting eight days for his bed in the hospital

there in his home town, Norman, in pain and vomiting and unable to move out of that bed, begged his parents to take him home to die, and they did.

He went home to die, and when he became comatose his mother loaded him in the back seat and brought him to me. I put him on a ventilator. I gave him drugs. I got him a neurosurgeon. What I could not get him was a bed.

If you will excuse me, this is emotional. I left the hospital Wednesday morning. I do not know if Norman died, but I believe that he will die in that trauma bay. He will never see the inside of a hospital. He will have his neurosurgeon, but he will not have a bed.

As you sit here and absorb the impact of the story, I would like to let you know something. Norman is not indigent. Norman is a working man with health insurance. The problem with the cuts that Medicaid wants to make, the cuts to Medicaid that are being proposed, is that it affects not only the indigent but everyone out there. This could happen to you, it could happen to someone that you love.

Of our children in Texas, 32 percent are on Medicaid.

Another 18 percent of them are uninsured. That is 50 percent of our children who are under-insured or lacking access to health care. I can't see that any cut in that program is going to help anyone.

More to the point, we don't have beds, and we don't have

1096 beds in the same way that New York doesn't, in the same way that other colleges in Virginia don't. Cutting our programs is not going to give us beds. It is not going to help people like Norman, whose main need is a neurosurgeon and a bed.

I would like to wrap up today by thanking you for allowing me to be here, by tolerating my emotion for my patients, and by asking you: please, don't cut funding to our valuable public hospitals.

[Prepared statement of Dr. Gardner follows:]

1105 ******* INSERT *******

1097

1098

1099

1100

1101

1102

1103

1104

1106 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Dr. Gardner.

1107 Dr. Kanof?

1108 STATEMENT OF MARJORIE KANOF

Dr. KANOF. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Davis, and members of the Committee, I am also pleased to be here with you today as you explore recent regulatory actions of CMS related to the Medicaid program and the potential impacts of these actions on patients, providers, and States. I think we have heard several examples of this this morning.

Medicaid fulfills a crucial role in providing health coverage for a variety of vulnerable populations, but ensuring the program's long-term sustainability is critically important.

Starting in the early 1990s and as recently as 2004, we and others identified inappropriate Medicaid financing arrangements in some States. These arrangements often involved supplemental payments made to government providers that were separate from and in addition to those made at a State's typical Medicaid payment rates.

In March, 2007, we reported on a CMS initiative that was started in 2003 to end these inappropriate arrangements. My remarks today will focus on Medicaid financing arrangements involving supplemental payments to government providers. I will discuss our findings on these financial arrangements, including their implications for the fiscal integrity of the

Medicaid program and on CMS' initiative begun in 2003 to end these.

In summary, for more than a decade we and others have reported on financing arrangements that inappropriately increased Federal Medicaid matching payments. In these arrangements, States received Federal matching funds by paying certain government providers, such as county-owned or-operated nursing homes, amounts that greatly exceeded Medicaid rates. In reality, the large payments were often temporary, since States could require the government providers to return all or most of the money back to the States.

States could use these Federal matching funds received in making these payments, which essentially made a round trip from the State to the provider and back to the State, at their own discretion. Such financing arrangements have significant fiscal implications for the Federal Government and the States. The exact am the of additional Federal Medicaid funds generated through these arrangements is unknown, but it is estimated that it was billions of dollars.

Despite Congressional and CMS action taken to limit such arrangements, we have found, even in recent years, that improved Federal oversight was still needed.

Because they effectively increased the Federal Medicaid share above what is established by law, these arrangements

threaten the fiscal integrity of Medicaid's Federal and State partnership. They shift costs inappropriately from the State to the Federal Government and take funding intended for covered Medicare costs from providers who do not under these arrangements retain the full payment.

The consequences of this arrangement is illustrated in one State's arrangement in 2004 which increased Federal expenditures without a commensurate increase in State spending. The State made a \$41 million supplemental payment to a local government hospital. Under its Medicaid matching formula, the State paid \$10.5 million, CMS paid \$30.5 million as the Federal share of a supplemental payment. After receiving the supplemental payment, however, in a very short time the hospital transferred back to the State approximately \$39 million of the \$41 million payment, retaining just \$2 million.

This March we reported on CMS' initiative to more closely review State financing arrangements through their State plan amendment process. From August, 2003, to August, 2006, 29 States ended one or more arrangements for financing supplemental payments because providers were not retaining the Medicaid payment for which States had received Federal matching funds.

We found CMS' action to be consistent with Medicaid payment principles that payment for services is consistent

with efficiency and economy. We also found, however, that the initiative lacked transparency, and that CMS had not issued any written guidance about the specific approval standards.

When we contacted twenty-nine States, only eight reported receiving any written guidance or clarification from CMS. State officials told us it was not always clear what financing arrangements were allowed and why arrangements were approved or not approved. This lack of transparency raised questions about the consistency with which States had been treated in ending their financial arrangements.

We recommended that CMS issue guidance about allowable financial arrangements.

In conclusion, as the Nation's health care safety net, the Medicaid program is of critical importance to beneficiaries and providers. The Federal Government and States have a responsibility to administer the program in a manner that ensures expenditures benefit those low-income people for whom benefits were intended.

Congress and CMS have taken important steps to improve the financial management of Medicaid, yet more can be done to ensure the accountability and fiscal integrity of the Medicaid program.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement. I will be happy to answer questions.

1208 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much. I want to thank 1209 all of the witnesses for your presentation. You have given 1210 us excellent, excellent information to think about as we look 1211 at this issue. 1212 We are now going to proceed to questions by the members 1213 of the Committee in five minute intervals. I will start with 1214 myself. 1215 Dr. Kanof, as you know, one of the proposed rules issued 1216 by CMS would limit Medicaid payments to public hospitals to 1217 the direct cost of serving each Medicaid beneficiary. No payment would be allowed for the indirect cost that might be 1218 1219 part of running the hospital, say, for example, the losses 1220 that the hospital might incur for emergency rooms, burn 1221 units, or trauma care. Has the GAO supported a policy of 1222 Medicaid payment for direct costs, alone? 1223 Dr. KANOF. No. In fact, we have, though, supported a 1224

Dr. KANOF. No. In fact, we have, though, supported a recommendation made to Congress in both 1994 and repeated in 2004 that costs should be limited to cost, but have never defined what is in that cost, what is direct or what is indirect.

1225

1226

1227

1228

1229

1230

1231

1232

Chairman WAXMAN. In 1994, though, you said Congress should enact legislation.

Dr. KANOF. We did, and, in fact, we did that because in comments that we received from HCFA at that time they indicated that they could not do this without Congressional

legislation, and, in fact, in 2005 the President's budget proposal actually requested legislation for this.

Chairman WAXMAN. So would it be inaccurate for CMS to imply that GAO supports the proposed cost rule?

Dr. KANOF. I think you have an interesting question you are asking me. GAO definitely recommends cost, but GAO has not commented what should be in that cost.

Chairman WAXMAN. You recommend legislation. I know that you also know a great deal about the Medicare program. Does Medicare include direct and indirect costs within its payment system?

Dr. KANOF. Yes. That is sort of a fundamental of how Medicare pays its providers.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you. It has been one of the fundamental ways Medicaid has paid its providers, as well.

Dr. Gardner, last week southern California suffered from a terrible disaster with devastating fires, and during this calendar year we have seen other problems such as the recent bridge collapse in Minneapolis. Communities relied on public teaching hospitals to provide critical emergency, trauma, and burn care. In the major cities of our Country public hospitals provide nearly half of all level one trauma services and two-thirds of burn care beds. Are you concerned that the rules proposed by CMS will damage our communities' ability to manage the next natural disaster or public health

1258	emergency?
------	------------

Dr. GARDNER. Absolutely. I cannot be more clear that we have no surge capacity. As demonstrated in Los Angeles and in the counties surrounding San Diego, dealing with a catastrophe is a problem for them. They have seen the closure of six hospitals with emergency departments in the last several years. Had this catastrophe been worse, they would not have been able to deal with those patients. And there is nowhere else for them to go.

Chairman WAXMAN. Well, one out of five hospitalized patients received care in a public hospital, one out of four babies is born in a public hospital, and one out of five ER patients receive care at a public hospital. Given this volume of services, will other hospitals be able to fill the void if public hospitals are forced to close beds or curtail services due to the CMS regulations?

Dr. GARDNER. No, sir. The private hospitals are in much the same shape as the public hospitals. There is no bed capacity. There aren't nurses. There aren't specialists. There isn't room anywhere for any overflow of the system. There will be nowhere for these patients to go.

Chairman WAXMAN. We all know public and teach hospitals operate emergency rooms, trauma centers, burn units, and sophisticated ICUs, but these hospitals also manage large outpatient clinics that keep community members healthy and

1284

1286

1287

1288

1289

1290

1291

1292

1293

1294

1295

1296

1297

1298

1299

1300

1301

1302

1303

1304

1305

1306

1307

1283 out of the hospital. Today in our major cities over one-third of patients who need outpatient care receive it at 1285 a public hospital clinic. If CMS implements the proposed rules and public hospitals are forced to curtail these outpatient services or close these clinics, what options will these patients have to receive care?

Dr. GARDNER. Well, sir, as you know, regulations require that the emergency department stabilize and see any patients who present to our doorways, and my presumption is that those patients will show up in the emergency department and we will see them.

And if I could just take two seconds to dispel a common myth, there is a myth out there that our emergency departments are overrun by patients who don't need to be seen in the emergency department, but our recent research shows that 70 percent of the people who come to see us need to be seen within two hours, and 15.3 percent of those need to be seen within 15 minutes. So we will be adding clinic patients to an already overburdened system.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you.

Mr. AVILES. Mr. Chairman, I would just add, as well, that this highlights the extent to which this can be viewed as penny wise and pound foolish. To the extent that you strip out--

Chairman WAXMAN. I thank you for that, but I have one

last question. You can see the red light, so my time is 1308 1309 going to be up if I don't ask my last question of Ms. 1310 Herrmann. 1311 The President says he wants to make sure that the 1312 low-income children are covered under Medicaid and S-CHIP. 1313 Now, Medicaid, of course, covers the poorest of the poor 1314 children. What would happen if you had the school nursing 1315 program made ineligible for treating some of these Medicaid 1316 patients? 1317 Ms. HERRMANN. Thank you for your question. We see every 1318 day I would rather be a poor child because I am going to get Medicaid. If I am a little bit poor but not poor enough for 1319 Medicaid and I have diabetes, I have asthma, I have a broken 1320 1321 arm, I have a bad respiratory virus, those children are not 1322 going to get seen. They are going to be delayed in 1323 treatment. What happens is that then--1324 Chairman WAXMAN. Well, they won't even be in Medicaid, 1325 because you would enroll them in Medicaid. 1326 Ms. HERRMANN. No. That is right. 1327 Chairman WAXMAN. If they are not in Medicaid and they 1328 have asthma, you can't even give them the services that they 1329 need. 1330 Ms. HERRMANN. Exactly. 1331 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much. 1332 Ms. HERRMANN. Exactly.

1333 Chairman WAXMAN. I don't want to exceed the time. red light is staring at me. But thank you very much for your 1334 1335 answer. Maybe there will be further questions. 1336 Mr. Davis? 1337 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. We will have some time later, but 1338 I want to get through this panel. Thank all of you for 1339 I have got to start with Dr. Retchin. He is from my 1340 State and he has been here before, and we very much 1341 appreciate your being here. 1342 Your written testimony quotes the proposed rule in which 1343 the CMS points out that the Federal Government does not know 1344 or track which States are making GME payments, the amounts 1345 States are spending, or the total number of hospitals 1346 receiving such payments. Given that, what is the answer? Should it be paid through Medicaid? Should it be better 1347 1348 tracked and overseen from us? 1349 Dr. RETCHIN. Well, I think it is an excellent question. 1350 I am all for a better monitoring system, a better tracking 1351 I think CMS first has to realize these are 1352 legitimate costs. I mean, I think in part it could be obfuscation that if we can't track it then we can't pay it. 1353 1354 That is illogical to me. In this case I think it is 1355 incredibly important for CMS to recognize the historical 1356 tradition of the payment, itself track it legitimately, and 1357 continue the payment for GME.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. What part of GME payments or what part of--if you didn't have that coming, you are an urban hospital, you have a lot of people who can't pay that are presenting themselves at the door.

Dr. RETCHIN. Well, if you combine the direct and the

Dr. RETCHIN. Well, if you combine the direct and the indirect, it is a substantial portion. I would venture to say it could be as much as 10 percent of our total revenues.

The direct payment for graduate medical education is a substantial portion of our direct payments for graduate medical education. The other portion is only Medicare.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. And the same would apply to New York, I am sure.

I want to get to Dr. Kanof for a couple of minutes.

How does the inappropriate maximization of Federal Medicaid reimbursement impact the financial integrity of the program? Does this have implications for Medicaid beneficiaries? Are we merely moving costs from the Federal to the State? I mean, what is your overview of that?

Dr. KANOF. Well, in fact, what we have found and what we have reported is that the supplemental payments can undermine the fiscal integrity of the Medicaid Federal-State partnership, and we have looked at this and summarized it in three ways. They clearly, effectively increase, as I spoke about the Federal matching rate established under statute. They allow States to use Federal Medicaid funds for

non-Medicaid purposes. And they enable States to make payments to government providers that significantly exceed their costs.

1405|

While we have not specifically looked at the impact that this would have on Medicaid beneficiaries, a natural extension would be that if there are funds that are in the Medicaid program that are going to the States and then being returned to the States and not used for Medicaid, this would, in fact, harm a beneficiary.

In fact, the HHS IG found that, in fact, there were Medicaid funds that were going to an institution. The institution had returned these funds to the State, and then the State Department of Health and Human Service actually put the provider in jeopardy for not providing quality care to the beneficiaries.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Let me follow up on my earlier question. Is the GAO aware of any examples of concerns regarding Medicaid payments for school-based administration that may speak to the need for greater accountability or oversight in that area?

Dr. KANOF. We have not examined this issue in great detail. Two years ago we looked at contingency fee payments, and in Georgia we found that, in fact, there were funds that have been directed to the State for State programs and they had specifically gone back into the State and not been used

1408 for education purposes. In reviewing that, we determined 1409 that there needed to be better guidance to ensure 1410 accountability of these funds. 1411 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Dr. Gardner, as it relates to 1412 uncompensated care, will government-operated facilities still 1413 have access to the dish payments which are meant to address 1414 caring for the uninsured? 1415 Dr. GARDNER. I am not sure that I am adequately prepared to answer that question at this time. I can get back to you. 1416 1417 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. If you would try to get back to 1418 us, just for the record, that would be helpful to us. 1419 Dr. GARDNER. All right. 1420 [The information to be provided follows:] 1421 ****** COMMITTEE INSERT *******

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Mr. Aviles, some of the quotes in your written testimony speak to a very broad list of services that hospitals would purportedly have to discontinue under the proposed cost limit rule. I understand that you are challenging the CMS' estimate of the impact of the rule. For argument's purposes, if the impact was twice as large as CMS estimates, it still would be less than 1 percent change in Federal Medicaid spending. Can you talk to the magnitude of this change from your perspective?

Mr. AVILES. It may be 1 percent in the aggregate,
Congressman, but, in fact, NAPH members constitute 2 percent
of the hospitals in this Country, and we cover 25 percent of
the uncompensated care. These regulations are directed at
the public hospitals in the Country, and therefore the impact
is concentrated there.

As I mentioned in my testimony, just for us the impact would be about 4 percent of our budget on the cost limit regulation alone. All three regulations together aggregate to closer to 9 percent of our budget, or in the range of \$400 to \$500 million.

Others of our members in California, for example, the estimates are in excess of \$500 million, in Florida in excess of \$900 million, and in Tennessee and North Carolina and Georgia it is a combined impact of \$800 million on an annual basis for the cost limit regulation, alone. That necessarily

1447 would devastate our ability to deliver services.

1448 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Thank you.

1449 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Davis.

We are being called to the House floor for a series of three votes. We are going to take a recess and come back at ten minutes to 12:00--I think that would be a good prediction of time--to complete the questions for this panel.

1454 Thank you.

1450

1451

1452

1453

1461

1462

1463

1464

1465

1466

1467

1468

1469

1470

1455 We stand in recess.

1456 [Recess.]

1457 Chairman WAXMAN. The hearing of the Committee will 1458 please come back to order.

1459 Mr. Cummings?

1460 Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

First of all I want to thank all of our witnesses for your testimony. I thank you for bringing and presenting a face for the people who are affected by these proposals.

I also want to say to Ms. Miller, I want to thank you for your testimony. As a fellow Marylander, I am very, very, very proud of you. Thank you so very much for taking your story and bringing it to us. I really appreciate that, too.

Dr. Gardner, please do not ever apologize for your passion. We are talking about the lives of human beings. We are talking about life and death situations.

To all of you, I thank you for your passion.

It seems, Mr. Chairman, that we are currently engaged in a very public debate over the future of S-CHIP, which covers six million children and potentially will cover four million more. But today, after listening to this testimony, I am concerned that, while we wrangle over that program in the press, CMS has launched a systematic attack on Medicaid which serves 60 million people, 28 million of them children, behind our backs and in their suites.

Your testimonies highlight how vitally important it is that we shed a light on these ill-advised proposed regulations. Left to their own devices, it appears that CMS will leave our most vulnerable citizens--that is, the poor, the sick, the disabled, and the elderly--far, far behind, if not left out completely.

Mr. Chairman, that is not the American way. As I listened to some of this testimony, I must tell you that if I closed my eyes I had to wonder whether or not we were still in America.

America has gained its moral authority by the way it treats its people, not by military might. It may have been backed up by military might, but the way we treat every single American. This is not a matter of fiscal responsibility. I have concluded it is a matter of moral irresponsibility.

Are we so morally bankrupt that we are willing to

1497 | shortchange life and death services?

That leads me to you, Mr. Parrella. I want to thank you for your testimony. You testified that you worked in Medicaid for the past 20 years. In your experience, is there any precedent for what CMS is doing with the six proposals we are discussing today? Has the Federal Medicaid agency ever proposed a set of Federal rules that would shift \$11 billion in costs from the Federal Government to the States?

Mr. PARRELLA. Thank you for that question, Mr. Cummings.

I am not aware of a regulatory initiative that would have an impact of this magnitude that we have experienced.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And I take it from your testimony that the State Medicaid directors, the managers like you who actually run the program on a day to day basis, I guess you all oppose each of these six CMS proposals we are discussing today. And is that opposition bipartisan?

Mr. PARRELLA. Our organization--

1514 Mr. CUMMINGS. First of all, are you opposed?

1515 Mr. PARRELLA. I am, sir.

1505

1506

1507

1508

1509

1510

1511

1512

1513

1516 Mr. CUMMINGS. All right. And is that the view of your 1517 organization?

1518 Mr. PARRELLA. It is, sir.

1519 Mr. CUMMINGS. It is a bipartisan organization?

1520 Mr. PARRELLA. It is, sir.

1521 Mr. CUMMINGS. Do you all have opportunities to express

1522 your concerns to the folk who sit in the suites making these 1523 decisions affecting people's lives on a day to day basis? Mr. PARRELLA. We do. 1524 1525 Mr. CUMMINGS. And how do you do that? How do you go 1526 about doing that? Mr. PARRELLA. CMS is very good about meeting with us on 1527 1528 at least a quarterly basis. We have direct access to Mr. In terms of the regulations that are issued, we 1529 Smith. 1530 provide written comments. 1531 Mr. CUMMINGS. I always find these hearings fascinating because we hear your stories and, having been here 11 years, 1532 1533 the fascinating part is we will hear the story from CMS in a 1534 few minutes. They will probably say--well, Mr. Smith has 1535 already said in his written testimony, 'These rules will 1536 provide for greater stability in the Medicaid program and 1537 equity among States.'' Do you agree with that statement? 1538 Mr. PARRELLA. I do not. I am sympathetic to the task that Mr. Smith and CMS have in that it is their 1539 1540 responsibility to maintain program integrity, and part of program integrity is to hold the States accountable for the 1541 1542 State share that they provide for Medicaid. So to the extent 1543 that these regulations were an attempt to correct any 1544 practices historically which have shifted inappropriately 1545 responsibility to the Federal Government from the States, I 1546 understand and support what Mr. Smith is doing. However, I

1547 think what these regulations do is they go far beyond that in 1548 terms of the impact that they are having on the kind of 1549 public providers and recipients who are here who benefit from 1550 these programs. I think that is the reason why we are in 1551 opposition. 1552 Mr. CUMMINGS. I see my time is up. Thank you, Mr. 1553 Chairman. 1554 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Cummings. 1555 Mr. Davis? 1556 Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Thank you very much, Mr. I want to thank you for holding this hearing. 1557 1558 a matter of fact, I represent a District that has more than 1559 twenty-five hospitals, four medical schools, thirty community 1560 health centers. As a matter of fact, we are, indeed, a 1561 health mecca, and so you can imagine that these proposed 1562 rules frighten me to death. As a matter of fact, every time 1563 I think about them I shake in my boots in terms of the 1564 devastating impact that they could have, because we also care 1565 for people from not only in our State but we care for many 1566 people from all over the Country and, indeed, from all over 1567 the world. So I thank all of you for your testimony. 1568 Let me just ask you, Mr. Aviles, the Senate Finance Committee recently confirmed Mr. Kerry Weems as the CMS 1569 1570 Administrator, and in response to questions submitted by the

Committee as it considered its nomination he made the

1571

following statement. I am going to quote it. He said, ''I appreciate that Medicaid is a vitally important program that serves very vulnerable populations. I am concerned that the perception that this Medicaid rule is intended to harm public providers. In fact, I understand it to protection public providers. Governmentally operated health care providers are assured the opportunity to receive full cost reimbursement for serving Medicaid-eligible individuals instead of being pressured to return some payment to the State.''

It sounds like Administration Weems believes that CMS is doing safety net hospitals like those in New York and like the three that I represent in my District in Chicago a favor by proposing these rules. Do you agree?

Mr. AVILES. Absolutely not, Congressman. As I have mentioned before, the cumulative impact on these regulations is a massive cut in funding to our public hospitals across the Country.

The argument that it does us a favor by limiting our reimbursement to actual cost really turns a blind eye to the role that public hospitals play across the Country. Those costs that we incur include the cost of running our trauma services, include the cost of running those burn beds.

As you have heard, our members in communities across this Country on average provide 50 percent of the trauma services, provide two-thirds of the burn beds.

If you are in Miami and you need trauma services, the only place you are going to get those trauma services is in a public hospital. If you are in Los Angeles, California, or Ohio, Columbus Ohio, the only place you are going to get specialized burn bed treatment is in a public hospital.

So those costs need to be borne, and historically have been borne through supplemental Medicaid payments that recognize that that is an essential part of the mission and role of public hospitals in this Country.

Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Well, on the next panel the CMS witness, Mr. Smith, will argue that his proposed rules will not have a negative impact on providers and that if the rules were to negatively affect providers--and I am going to quote what he said--''It would be due to decisions made by State and/or local governments, not by CMS.''

If CMS implements this rule, the Federal Medicaid payments are no longer available to public hospitals for costs not directly attributable to Medicaid patients, will the State of New York and the city of New York pick up the financial slack and cover the difference on their own? And what about other States and localities?

Mr. AVILES. With all due respect, that statement is a lot like saying that if we eliminated the Federal share of Medicaid entirely the States could pick up the slack and therefore there would not necessarily be a negative impact.

We are talking about a massive de-funding of public hospitals. As I have mentioned, in New York City, alone, the combined effect of these rules would be in the neighborhood of \$400 to \$450 million. It is inconceivable that we could continue to run the public hospital system we currently have in our city with that type of defunding. Quite frankly, neither New York state or other States around the Country have the wherewithal to make up that massive amount of defunding. Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. My time is about to run out. Let me ask you, If the States and local governments can't pick it up, do you think that the private sector hospitals and health systems would now be able to pick up the slack? Mr. AVILES. Absolutely not. We know that in many areas of the Country the emergency departments are absolutely crowded. Many hospitals, certainly in the northeast and elsewhere, struggle just to stay above water. We are talking about a public hospital system that provides 1.7 million

hospital discharges each year and close to 30 million outpatient visits. The private sector simply could not make that up, does not have the excess capacity to do that.

Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Thank you very much, and thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Davis.

Mr. Towns?

1622

1623

1624

1625

1626

1627

1628

1629

1630

1631

1632

1633

1634

1635

1636

1637

1638

1639

1640

1641

1642

1643

1644

1645

1646

1647 Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 1648 Let me begin by first thanking all of you for your 1649 testimony and for the many examples that you were able to give to highlight the fact that we are moving in the wrong 1650 1651 direction. Let me ask, did any of you comment on the rules? 1652 1653 any of you comment on the rule? 1654 [Panel members nodding affirmatively.] 1655 Mr. TOWNS. You did? All of you? 1656 [Panel members nodding affirmatively.] 1657 Mr. TOWNS. You know, in looking at the situation, it 1658 seems to be not a single person supported this rule, so I am wondering now if comments make a difference. 1659 If nobody 1660 supported it and, of course, here we are. Of course, you 1661 expressed your concerns, which I hear you. I am hoping that 1662 the Agency will also hear you, as well. 1663 Let me ask you, Dr. Aviles, what would this do to the 1664 graduate medical education programs that we have in our 1665 hospitals? 1666 Mr. AVILES. This would be extraordinarily destabilizing 1667 to the graduate medical education across the Country. There 1668 is a very close inter-weaving of graduate medical education 1669 and public hospitals. Of NAPH members, 85 percent are teaching hospitals. In New York City, HHC has nearly 2,400 1670 1671 residents being trained on any day of the week. So this is a

central component of the infrastructure for academic 1672 1673 medicine, and the training of physicians in our Country. 1674 With projected physician shortages going into the future as 1675 the Baby Boom generation requires more services, and as we 1676 look around the Country and see physician shortages even now, 1677 it is a very dangerous proposition, indeed. Mr. TOWNS. There is legislation being put forth by my 1678 colleague from New York, Elliott Engel. I would like to move 1679 1680 down the line and ask you, in terms of your views, whether you support it or not, basically yes or no, starting with 1681 you, Ms. Miller, and coming all the way down the line, the 1682 1683 Elliott Engel legislation. Are you familiar with it? 1684 Mr. PARRELLA. I am not, sir. 1685 Mr. TOWNS. You are not familiar with it? Okay. 1686 Mr. PARRELLA. Is it a moratorium legislation? 1687 Mr. TOWNS. Yes. Let's go right down the line. 1688 Mr. PARRELLA. Extend the moratorium. We would be in 1689 favor of that, sir. 1690 Mr. TOWNS. You would be in favor. Okay. Right down the 1691 line. 1692 Ms. MILLER. Yes. 1693 Mr. TOWNS. Yes. Yes or no, basically. 1694 Ms. COSTIGAN. Yes. 1695 Ms. HERRMANN. Yes.

1696

Mr. AVILES. Yes.

1697 Dr. RETCHIN. Yes.

- 1698 Dr. GARDNER. Yes.
- 1699 Dr. KANOF. I am not in a position to offer an opinion.
- 1700 Mr. TOWNS. Okay. All right. So that is neither yes nor
- 1701 no. Okay. I got it.
- 1702 Let me just say to you, do you think that legislation
- 1703 | would really help the delaying it a year rather than dealing
- 17.04 with it now?
- 1705 Mr. PARRELLA. Yes, it would help. This legislation
- 1706 | would help us.
- 1707 Mr. AVILES. It would help. We obviously would welcome a
- 1708 more permanent solution that would not require us to come
- 1709 back yet again, but certainly, given the alternatives, we
- 1710 would welcome a further moratorium.
- 1711 Mr. TOWNS. Do any others have any comments as to what
- 1712 this would do to your facility if these cuts go forward, as
- 1713 to what it would do to your facility in terms of if we do not
- 1714 rectify this?
- 1715 Ms. COSTIGAN. We run an adoption program at
- 1716 Intermountain in Helena and Great Falls, Montana. If this
- 1717 rehab rule stays the way it is, we would potentially lose
- 1718 that program. We have served over 100 SED kids, and we have
- 1719 found permanent homes for many of them, and we have kept them
- 1720 in permanent homes. We have a 73 percent success rate. The
- 1721 program would be gone.

1722 Mr. TOWNS. Thank you.

1733|

Ms. HERRMANN. The Medicaid administrative claiming
dollars that come back to school districts and programs, once
that is gone the program is gone. That is it. Everything
will be. So school nursing positions, social worker
positions, preventive care--all of those kinds of things
would be gone and we wouldn't be able to enroll or help kids
with eligibility.

Mr. AVILES. These funds help to subsidize the extraordinary cost of running six trauma centers in New York City, as well as our high-level neonatal intensive care units. All of those types of services would absolutely be endangered by this level of cuts.

Dr. RETCHIN. The cuts as they stand in the proposed rules taken together would be absolutely devastating for our teaching hospital.

A few years back we were actually on the cover of the Wall Street Journal because a cancer patient from a distant part of the State could not receive chemotherapy where he was, and he traveled about 150 miles to MCB hospitals where he got chemotherapy and treatment for his cancer and actually went into remission and survived. Those are the kind of programs at a cancer center like that we would have to reconsider. These would be devastating in terms of the consequences.

Dr. GARDNER. If I am allowed, I will have a short, two-part answer. One is that Texas is 51st already in administration of Medicaid, and we have 50 percent of our children and 30 percent of our adults who are also uninsured. We have research that says that over 20 percent of the adults and 25 percent of the children reported that they needed to see a doctor in the past two years and could not do so. will certainly not improve that.

Mr. TOWNS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. You have been very generous with the time. Thank you. I appreciate it.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Towns.

Ms. Watson?

Ms. WATSON. I really want to thank the Chair for holding this hearing. I think this is one of the more important issues that we have brought out to the public, and I want the public to listen closely.

If all the new regulations were to be implemented, Federal Medicaid funds to States would be cut over \$11 billion over the next five years. This loss in funding would be detrimental to the program and its recipients and would cause States to roll back valuable services that poor and low-income families would need and otherwise would not be able to afford.

I represent the State of California. We are the first

State in the Union to be a majority of minorities. We get a lot of people coming from over the Pacific Ocean, southeast Asia, over the border, and so on, with tremendous health needs. Where do they go? They go to emergency.

We just lost one of our public hospitals because the funding was cut back, Martin Luther King down in Watts. I think all of you are aware of that. I heard someone on the panel mention the dish hospitals. Let me tell you, in the same area there is St. Francis, a Catholic hospital. They can't take another patient. The dish hospitals are under-funded.

We are going to see more cases of people dying in the emergency room. We don't have an emergency room at King Hospital, as many of you know.

I am a teacher, worked in the District, so I want to direct this question to Ms. Herrmann. I believe that you have answered most of my questions. What would happen in our schools? I think the worst thing we do in our districts--we have 1,100 of them in California--is cut out the daily nurse. We don't even see the doctors.

So in his testimony, Mr. Smith for the next panel--he is the CMS witness--will defend this proposal rule on the grounds that there has been improper billing under the Medicaid program--In California we have our own. It is called MediCal--by school districts for administrative costs

and transportation services. There is no over-billing, 1797| 1798 because in a State as large as ours, the largest one in the 1799 Union, you are going to have to have an administration, you are going to have those costs. 1800 1801 I want to ask Ms. Herrmann, Does your school district 1802 improperly bill your State's Medicaid program for the cost of 1803 your services? Or are there administrative costs? And even 1804 if there had been abuses in other school districts, is this 1805 rule a common-sense solution to the problem? 1806 Ms. HERRMANN. No, we do not improperly bill Medicaid, and I can't imagine any school district would knowingly and 1807 1808 intentionally try to defraud the Medicaid program. 1809 I forgot the second part of your question. I am sorry. 1810 Ms. WATSON. That is all right. I think you have 1811 answered it all. 1812 Ms. HERRMANN. Thank you. 1813 Ms. WATSON. It was a comprehensive question. But my second part was, Is this rule a solution? 1814 1815 Ms. HERRMANN. No, this rule is not the solution. 1816 Children will lose out and school districts will lose out because we will not be able to enroll them or assist to 1817 1818 enroll them in Medicaid. 1819 Ms. WATSON. And I am so pleased that I still see the 1820 green light. Mr. Chairman and Members, we are being asked 1821 again to fund a war over in Iraq. Soon it will be a trillion

1822 And we are going to cut off health care to the 1823 poorest and most deserving children in our Nation? 1824 doesn't make any sense, and I am going to say for all of you 1825 to hear I will not cast a vote for another penny in Iraq if 1826 this rule goes through and we cut off the services to our 1827 children and our schools and we cut off the services in our county hospitals and we close the county hospitals by pulling 1828 1829 back on the funds, as has happened to us in L.A. County, the largest county in the State of California. It doesn't make 1831 sense.

If we are talking about protecting our homeland, it is not about the land, it is about the people on the land, and if we can't provide those services we ought to go out of business.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the time. I yield back. Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Ms. Watson.

Mr. Higgins?

1830

1832

1833

1834

1835

1836

1837

1838

1839

1840

1841

1842

1843

1844

1845

1846

Mr. HIGGINS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I have no questions, but more of just to thank the panel for being here. Most of the questions I had have been asked and answered. We appreciate very much your being here, because in making policy or challenging this administrative policy it is fundamentally important for us to know what the impact is going to be on the ground, whether it is graduate medical education and the impact to public hospitals and their

ability to deliver services, be they at hospitals or clinics throughout the communities, are very, very important. I want to assure you that we are here to ensure that nothing is done that is going to have a detrimental impact relative to service delivery at a time when we should be providing more health care, not less, particularly to those who are most vulnerable in our community.

Your presence here and the chairman's presentation of this hearing is fundamentally important towards shaping policy moving forward, and I thank you for being here.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Higgins.

Mr. Murphy?

Mr. MURPHY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I would like to especially thank Mr. Parrella for joining us today. He has served incredibly ably as the Director of Medicaid Services in my own State of Connecticut. I got to serve eight years on the Public Health Committee, four of those years chairing it, working together on a number of issues there.

Mr. Parrella, I wanted to give you the opportunity to expand upon I think an important point in your testimony, which is that much of the rationale for these rule changes seems to be the contention from the Administration that Medicaid was never supposed to cover these services in the

first place. For someone that has only worked in this field for ten years, even for me that contention seems incredibly wrong-headed. Your experience is much deeper and broader, and I would like you to just expand a little bit on the response, for those of us, when the Administration tells us that the reason for these changes is simply because Medicaid was never supposed to cover it in the first place, and the corollary argument from the Administration that there is other money out there to cover the services that they are cutting.

Mr. PARRELLA. Thank you, Congressman. It is a great pleasure to refer to you as Congressman Murphy in an official setting.

There are many examples you could find, but I think a best example is in the schools, in particular. I think some of the opposition comes from the sense that school business is the business appropriately of the Department of Education, that Medicaid should not cross that line. I think that we all know that Medicaid does cross that line because many of the children in schools receive services through special education.

There is Federal mandate for special education services through the IDEA, the Federal Act for special education.

IDEA does not come close to funding the full cost of the medical portion of special education services that States and

cities provide. So Medicaid was actually directed by Congress in the Medicare Catastrophic Act back in 1988 to participate in paying for special education services that were medical in nature.

So we have had direction at various times in the past to be intimately involved in payment for services through the schools, so it does appear to be something of a retrenchment or a revisiting philosophically to say that, for the purposes of promoting program integrity, there are going to be areas like school education, like graduate medical education where Medicaid does not have a role.

On the graduate Medicaid education issue, Medicaid does have a role because we have a great vested interest in training doctors who will continue to serve the low-income population. So if you were to take a strict constructionist view and say that education at large is not part of Medicaid, that argument might hold some ground in a pure philosophical sense, but in the real world where States are simply not going to be able to replace the kind of funds, as Mr. Aviles said, for special education or graduate medical education, to take Medicaid out of the equation without some kind of supplemental Federal program to take its place is simply not realistic.

Mr. MURPHY. Thank you very much, Mr. Parrella.

Ms. Costigan, I just want to talk to you for one second

about foster care. One of the proposed regulations would, as
I understand it, require therapeutic foster care homes to
unbundle their services in how they bill for those services,
creating, at least at first view, a whole new level of
bureaucracy for families that are looking to take on some
pretty difficult and emotionally complex children.

What do you think the effect of that proposed regulation is going to be on efforts of States that are already difficult, as it is, to try to get parents to come into the therapeutic foster home system?

Ms. COSTIGAN. I think it will be very destructive to any recruitment efforts. I also think that our agencies will not have the ability to track everything by 15-minute increments, especially when what we are talking about is giving kids back a social life, giving them skills to be able to have a friend and keep a friend and be a friend. I think this Medicaid rule will eliminate the support that therapeutic foster parents need, and if we want permanent homes for our kids, which is one of the things that Intermountain is very interested in is permanent homes for seriously emotionally disturbed kids, we deal with therapeutic adoptive care, but we fall under therapeutic foster care.

If we want these homes for these kids, we have to be willing to support them and to help them to help the child grow.

1947 Mr. MURPHY. Thank you very much, Ms. Costigan.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this very important

1949 hearing.

1956

1957

1958

1959

1960

1961

1962

1963

1964

1965

1966

1967

1968

1969

1970

1950 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you very much, Mr. Murphy.

1951 Mr. Hodes?

1952 Mr. HODES. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I thank the panel for coming today. I am a co-sponsor of H.R. 3533, and I really appreciate the opportunity to have

1955 you here today to highlight this critical issue.

I want to thank Mr. Cummings for his remarks, which I associate myself with. Like Mr. Cummings, I have been gravely concerned about what seems to be this Administration's undeclared war on children and the poor under the Orwellian guise of a claim of fiscal

responsibility. It is not what this Country is about.

I am wearing a pin which says Article I on it. The Article I initiative is a new initiative by the Democratic members of the Class of 2006 to help the people in this Country understand that checks and balances are vital in our system of Government, and this oversight hearing is one prime example of a check and a balance in a system where the Administration seems to believe that it makes the law and not Congress.

We will not be silent on this issue.

1971 In my home State of New Hampshire we have one large

teaching hospital, Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center in Lebanon, New Hampshire, in association with Dartmouth College. It really is the sole teaching hospital there.

I want to focus for a moment on the graduate medical education issues. I understand that a recent report by the Agency of Health Care Research and Quality, which is a sister agency to CMS, found that teaching hospitals have a terrible patient revenue margin. In fact, they are losing almost \$0.10 on the dollar.

Dr. Retchin, would you simply explain why this is so. Why do they lose money? And how do you make up the difference?

Dr. RETCHIN. Well, the old joke you make it up on volume probably doesn't apply here.

The teaching hospitals are at a disadvantage from the start all the way to the finish line because they have so many missions, so they are asked to be the tertiary referral centers, the cutting edge for technology and development of new research, new therapeutics. They are asked to supply tomorrow's workforce for health care workers, not only physicians but nurses, physical therapists, pharmacists, occupational therapists. And then they are asked, after all of that, to be a safety net in the partnership for taking care of the disadvantaged.

So it should be no surprise that all of these missions

require funding, and they all require subsidization, so the cross-funding of these is very difficult. I can tell you the safety net care generates no margins to subsidize either education or research, so all of these have to pay for themselves, and some fall by the wayside. They have to give up or compromise on one of those missions. It has got to be research, education, and, as a last resort, patient care. They can't make it up. That is the answer.

Mr. HODES. Dr. Retchin, CMS says that its proposed rule eliminating Medicaid GME would ''clarify that costs and payments associated with graduate medical education programs are not payments for medical assistance that are reimbursable under the Medicaid program.''

Do you agree with the CMS characterization that their proposed rule is a ``clarification''?

Dr. RETCHIN. Well, after 20 years of approving the State plans for GME payments, after more than two decades of not only approving State payments but actually making the payments and sharing, this has been a great Federal-State partnership. It seems unusually convenient to come to the conclusion that this is merely a clarification. It took a long time to clarify.

I think that everybody has got skin in the game. We all have to train the workforce of tomorrow. Here you have a Federal-State partnership, so it seems unusual, as one way to

cut this, to make it merely a technical clarification.

2023

2029

2030

2031

2032

2033

2034

2035

2036

2037

2038

2039

2040

2041

2042

2043

2044

2045

2046

Mr. HODES. Well, if the rule goes through, why can't the 2024 States simply step in and pick up the slack? And if they 2025 can't, what will happen if they don't? What will happen to 2026 training the Nation's doctors? What will happen, for 2027 instance, in your hospital on emergency care and disaster 2028 preparedness?

Dr. RETCHIN. All of these have to be compromised. know, it is sort of funny about this, because if you look at the 47 States that actually have GME payments through Medicaid, most of those States, if not all, have balanced budget amendments. They are the ones that have to ride out the business cycles and yet continue year after year to make these payments and make a commitment to funding the most disadvantaged in our society.

You would think actually it would be the Federal Government that would actually be saying to the States, You need to make these payments because we are concerned about the work force. It is just odd that it is the other way around.

So the States will not be able to make this up. some of the States would continue their portion, because, like I said, they both have skin in the game, but they won't be able to make up the defunding of the Federal portion. Can't happen.

Mr. HODES. Thank you. 2047 I yield back. 2048 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Hodes. 2049 2050 Mr. Shays? 2051 Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Again, thank you for having this hearing. 2052 I sometimes find, when everything is weighted one way, I 2053 2054 want to bring some balance, even if I may not feel as 2055 strongly about that as I do. But in this case I am looking 2056 l at administrative changes that change not 10 percent, not 1 percent, but 9/10ths of 1 percent, so I am hard-pressed to 2057 2058 know how terrible things are going to happen. 2059 We are talking about one thousand two hundred billion 2060 [sic] dollars of money spent and \$11 billion in alterations over five years. That is tiny times ten, so I don't want to 2061 2062 blow this whole hearing out of proportion. 2063 With regard to the GAO, GAO has looked at a number of financing arrangements with Medicaid. In your experience, 2064 how does the joint nature of Medicaid program, joint 2065 2066 Federal-State, 50/50, incentivize inappropriate financing 2067 arrangements? Dr. KANOF. Well, it does it in several ways. Clearly, 2068 one way is as was mentioned this morning, earlier today, 2069 2070 through the supplemental payments that can be excessively large and then can be transferred back from a provider to the 2071

2072

2073

2074

2075

2076

2077

2078

2079

2080

2081

2082

2083

2084

2085

2086

2087

2088

2089

2090

2091

2092

2093

2094

2096

State because there is an inter-government transfer allowed and there is an excessive amount of money now returned to the State. It allows this in that the payments are now not to the providers, because they have not rendered these services for this payment, and it creates tension in that it increases the Federal match to the State.

Mr. SHAYS. In other words, what we have found in my 20 years here, and that is why we looked at this issue in 1997, what we did in the late 1990s was, with President Clinton's support, we balanced the Federal budget. We pretty much allowed discretionary spending to go up 1 percent, slowed entitlements for one year alone by a few percentage points--not 9/10ths of 1 percent--and we balanced the budget. That is what we did, Democrats and Republicans.

Here we are talking about an \$11 billion savings over \$1.2 trillion, and it is clear--all of us know this on this side, not there--that a smart State looks to take 100 percent of its costs, and if it can transfer it to Medicaid it now only has 50 percent and now the Federal Government picks up the other 50 percent. That is the incentive, isn't that true?

Dr. KANOF. Without appropriate safeguards, those are the incentives.

Mr. SHAYS. Absolutely. Now, I am very proud of how our 2095 State operates. I am also proud of our State's ingenuity.

Mr. Parrella, I think that you get rewarded if you find ways
to increase programs and reduce the State's costs, and if I
were governor I would want to make sure you did that every
time. And if I was on that side of the table I would be
arguing for it every time.

But I am not on that side of the table. Medicare is going up \$16 billion from last year to this year's budget, \$17 billion next, \$18 billion the year after, \$19 billion the year after, \$21 billion the year after. It is not like the Federal Government isn't invested in this program, isn't that clear?

Mr. PARRELLA. That is true, Congressman.

Mr. SHAYS. So let me ask you, to the degree that some States use creative financing mechanisms, does that put States who choose to follow both the letter and spirit of the law and regulations at an unfair disadvantage by, frankly, undermining the overall financial integrity of the Medicaid program? In other words, if some States are using creative financing and you are a State that is pretty much playing by the letter and spirit of the law, doesn't that put you at a bit of a disadvantage?

Mr. PARRELLA. I think the danger of creative financing, the way it has been described, is that it can undermine the relationship between the States and the Federal Government, which is based on a partnership. It is. We have to have

integrity in what we represent to the Federal Government when 2123 we want to talk to them about matching funds for programs 2124 that we are trying to do to cover the uninsured. There has 2125 to be some integrity behind that so that they believe that we are really going to spend money on services that are really 2126 2127 going to go to providers. That is part and parcel of what we 2128 do. 2129 I guess I would concede that if there are attempts to 2130 recycle funds or divert funds from that purpose, it 2131 undermines the credibility of every State. 2132 Mr. SHAYS. Well, Mr. Murphy and I both served at the 2133 State level, and when we were at the State level we thought 2134 like State legislators and we were eager to have you get 2135 every penny you could from the Federal Government. But I 2136 hope there is no disrespect on my side here. Please 2137 understand, I feel my job is to make sure it is fair for all States so that one State doesn't gain the system, and that we 2138 2139 have a system that we can afford both on the State and Federal level. 2140 2141 I thank all our witnesses again. 2142 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for this hearing. Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Shays. 2143 Just for the record, Dr. Kanof, the GAO has recommended 2144

both improved accountability and transparency in many of

these areas that are the subject of these proposed

2145

2146

2147| regulations. Has GAO ever recommended prohibiting Medicaid 2148 payment for school administrative services? 2149 Dr. KANOF. Based on my own knowledge of the reports that 2150 GAO has done, the answer to that would be no. 2151 Chairman WAXMAN. How about school transportation services? 2152 2153 Dr. KANOF. No. 2154 Chairman WAXMAN. Therapeutic foster care services? 2155 Dr. KANOF. Not that I am aware of. No. Chairman WAXMAN. Rehabilitation services? 2156 2157 Dr. KANOF. No. 2158 Chairman WAXMAN. Indirect hospital costs? 2159 Dr. KANOF. I don't think so. 2160 Chairman WAXMAN. Okay. Graduate medical education 2161 costs? 2162 Dr. KANOF. No. 2163 Chairman WAXMAN. And assertive community treatment? 2164 Dr. KANOF. No. 2165 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you. 2166 Let me thank all of you for your testimony. 2167 Mr. SHAYS. May I ask a question in regards to the 2168 question you asked? 2169 Chairman WAXMAN. Certainly. 2170 Mr. SHAYS. Have you looked at each one of these issues? 2171 Dr. KANOF. No. And what we have looked at is

2172 indications of more how is the State using some of these 2173 funds, but we have not looked at these issues.

Chairman WAXMAN. If the gentleman would permit, these proposed regulations would impact each of those areas. We are not just talking about mechanisms for drawing more money. As I understand it, these are services that would no longer be available.

I thank you all very much for your presentation. I think this is very, very helpful. It is a record that we are going to be able to share with our colleagues. Thank you so much.

[Recess.]

Chairman WAXMAN. The Committee will come back to order.

Mr. Smith, I am going to ask you to come forward.

Dennis Smith is the Director of the Center on Medicaid and State Operations at the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Department of Health and Human Services.

We are pleased to have you here today. As I indicated, it is the practice of this Committee that all witnesses answer questions under oath, so please rise.

[Witness sworn.]

Chairman WAXMAN. Do you have a prepared statement? We would like to recognize you for comments you might wish to make.

2196 STATEMENT OF DENNIS SMITH, DIRECTOR, CENTER ON MEDICAID AND
2197 STATE OPERATIONS, CENTERS FOR MEDICARE AND MEDICAID SERVICES,
2198 DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

STATEMENT OF DENNIS SMITH

Mr. SMITH. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I will make my remarks brief and try to respond really to some of the issues that were raised from the previous panel and questions from the Members, themselves. Hopefully we will be helpful to help to understand the context of the rules, the impact across the program, and really how the rules do work, because I think that in some respects the interpretation of rules get interpreted and reinterpreted and stretched a little further than what the rules actually say.

I think I first also want to thank David Parrella for his very kind remarks. We do work very closely together with the Medicaid directors and we have a great deal of respect for David personally and for Martha Rorety, who runs the Medicaid Directors, and we do have a great deal of exchange. We talk a lot about these regulations before they ever become regulations and what is going on out there in the States.

The Medicaid program speaks through State plan amendments, so while you work within the confines of the

statute, itself, in title 19, the States change their program, update their program, et cetera, through State plan amendments. And we do learn new things over time.

We have learned new things through the submission of State plan amendments. I think I have done what my predecessors have done. In the area of school-based services, for example, and the discussion that we heard on the previous panel about the school nurse, some of the things that she was describing would not have been allowed under the guidance of the previous Administration. Direct services that you are doing for routine medical care falls under the free care rule, and the rationale that no other payer is paying for it so it should not be billed to Medicaid. So some of the activities that she was describing would not have been allowed under the previous Administration, as well.

The previous Administration became increasingly concerned about what is called bundling, to where schools would bundle payments together. They came out with guidance saying no, we are not going to recognize bundling any longer.

In terms of provider taxes, the previous Administration, again, was very concerned, took a disallowance against five States in excess of \$1 billion. In many respects, the cost associated with Medicaid was not being shared by the State but, in fact, being passed off onto the providers, themselves. The previous Administration stepped in and acted.

We also provided a table as an attachment to my testimony that shows the history of deferrals and disallowances that we have taken as a result of our financial management activities, and I think in looking at the chart I think that we are very much in line with our predecessors.

In terms of there was a lot of discussion about the cost rule, in particular, and again I have talked to a lot of groups, a lot of hospitals, and tried to explain what has been going on in Medicaid is the States have been passing their obligations on to providers. When we have stepped in, their providers have benefitted from that.

In California, for example, we have worked with California in their hospital financing. Revenues to California public hospitals went up. They went up by 12 percent, according to their own Public Hospital Association.

Provider taxes, again, to sort of reveal what is below the surface, when is the last time someone came in and asked to be taxed? Provider taxes are related then to payments, because the provider is willingly paying a tax knowing that there is going to be a return on that through increased payments. So, again, the financing is left to the Federal Government because the provider is not really paying the tax. The State is not really paying its share, but it is the Federal Government who is funding.

I think these things really can be summed up in terms of

what we are funding and what we are for in these rules.

2268

2269

2270

2271

2272

2273

2274

2275

2276

2277

2278

2279

2280

2281

2282

2283

2284

2285

2286

2287

2288

2289

2290

2291

2292

Is it a medically necessary service? Is it for a Medicaid beneficiary? Is the matching requirement under the Federal-State partnership intact? The answer is yes to all of those, we pay. Federal dollars follow State dollars. They are the ones who are determining the services. They are the ones who are determining the reimbursement rate to providers. They are the ones who are determining the scope of services when you get to an issue like rehabilitative services. We are not talking about a disagreement about is physical therapy covered as a rehab service. Of course it There is no disagreement about is speech therapy in a school covered. Of course it is. That is not what the disagreement is about. The disagreement is about pushing the edges of the envelopes even further to see where an activity or a program of the State is being funded with State-only dollars. If you can get Medicaid money out of the Federal Government by calling it Medicaid, then you are ahead of the game.

That is where the issues of the discussions are about when we are talking about rehab services. We, again, learned a great deal in our conversations as States submit State plan amendments, do things like on therapeutic foster care. There is not a definition of therapeutic foster care in the Medicaid statute. There are many different definitions of

therapeutic foster care when you go out and ask the States, themselves, what do you mean by therapeutic foster care.

Again, when you are talking about that, in itself, are these a component of services for people with mental illness? We will pay. Is this for a mental health counselor? We pay. is this for the prescription drugs that someone needs? Of course we will pay.

This is about pushing the envelope to the outer boundaries to where is therapeutic foster care a juvenile justice wilderness camp. Then I think you do expect me to push back on the States and say no, that is outside the bounds.

David Parrella's quote about the creativity of the States I thought had great double meaning to it. The creativity of the States, new things out there on the horizons. States contemplating, talking openly about four our elderly prisoners in our penal system, in our correction system, can we somehow get them into a nursing home and have Medicaid start picking up the cost for them?

These are things that have been pushed to the edge, beyond the edge, and, in our opinion, yes, beyond the edge when we ask you what do you mean by therapy and we get the answer is we are going to pay for small engine repair. We think that that is our obligation to be saying what are we really paying for here. Is the Federal-State partnership

2318	intact?
2319	Again, if the State is paying its share, if it is for a
2320	medically necessary service, we are going to be there with
2321	you, as we have matched and we have matched over the years.
2,322	[Prepared statement of Mr. Smith follows:]
2323	****** INSERT ******

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Smith. Your prepared statement is all going to be in the record.

I want to start the questions, if I might.

Over the past ten months, CMS has issued six proposed Medicaid rules that would reduce Federal Medicaid payments to States by over \$11 billion. There are persistent rumors that CMS is considering issuing more proposals that will cut Federal Medicaid payments to States even more. Members of this Committee, the States, providers, and beneficiaries would all be very interested in knowing whether these rumors are true, so I want to ask you, between today and the end of this Administration does CMS plan to propose regulations that would cut Federal Medicaid payments to States for targeted case management services? And if so, when will these proposed rules be published and how much do you estimate they will cut Federal payments to the States?

Mr. SMITH. We are to publish a rule on targeted case management. This is implementing the changes made under the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005, so we will be publishing final rules on that. The estimated savings I think is in the neighborhood of \$4 billion.

Chairman WAXMAN. And these proposed rules are where?

Mr. SMITH. These are under review. I believe they are in the final stages of review. They have been with OMB, so other agencies are looking and commenting, as well, so it is

2349 near the end of the process.

2360 l

Chairman WAXMAN. In the next 15 months, does CMS plan to propose regulations that would restrict the flexibility that States now have to use their own methods for counting income, flexibility that enables States to give Medicaid beneficiaries incentives to work or to recognize the unique expenses many disabled individuals face in their efforts to remain independent? And if so, when will these proposed rules be published and how much do you estimate they will cut Federal payments to the States?

Mr. SMITH. Are you referring to changes in how States do income disregards for eligibility, Mr. Waxman?

Chairman WAXMAN. Yes.

Mr. SMITH. That is an issue that is under consideration. The S-CHIP debate was referenced earlier, and in some respects reflective of that, of how, in discussions about what is the upper limit for income eligibility for Medicaid or S-CHIP, through the use of income disregards going to actually even higher levels than that--

Chairman WAXMAN. So you are looking at this area, as well, for--

2370 Mr. SMITH. It is under consideration. Yes, Mr. 2371 Chairman.

Chairman WAXMAN. Okay. Let me ask you this: in the next 15 months, does CMS plan to propose any other regulations

2374 that would reduce State flexibility or reduce Federal 2375 Medicaid payments to the States? If so, what are these proposals, when will they be published, and how much will 2376 2377 they cut Federal payments to the States? 2378 Mr. SMITH. Mr. Chairman, we are in the formulation of next year's budget. Decisions have not been made in terms of 2379 2380 whether any further regulations, to my knowledge, any further 2381 regulations in Medicaid will be proposed. But, as I said, that is the normal pass-back between agencies and OMB, and 2382 2383 final decisions are still generally a month away, month and a half away. 2384 2385 Chairman WAXMAN. Well, we want to know if there are 2386 proposals, so we would like to have you inform us of that. Mr. SMITH. Doing that prior to the release of the 2387 2388 President's budget is usually an issue of some sensitivity. 2389 Chairman WAXMAN. The Federal Government spends about 2390 \$200 billion to help the States cover over 60 million 2391 low-income Americans. Because of the program's size, changes 2392 in Federal Medicaid policy could have major impact on States, 2393 on counties, on hospitals, on other providers, and, of course, on beneficiaries, who, by definition, are the most 2394 2395 vulnerable among us. They have to be very, very poor to get 2396 covered under Medicaid. 2397 Each of the proposed rules we are discussing today would 2398 make major changes in Federal Medicaid policy. As we heard

from the witnesses on the first panel, many of these changes could well cause great harm. Yet, with one minor exception, each of these proposed rules have no statutory authorization, much less a statutory directive. Congress has made no change in the Medicaid statute relating directly to limits on payments to public providers for Medicaid patients since 1997. In fact, the Administration in its fiscal year 2005 and 2006 budgets proposed such a statutory change and Congress rejected the proposal.

Congress has made no change in the Medicaid statute relating directly to payments to teaching hospitals for GME since the program's enactment in 1965.

Congress has made no change in the Medicaid statute relating directly to outpatient hospital services since 1967.

Congress has made no change in the Medicaid statute relating directly to payments for rehabilitation services since 1989.

Congress has made no change in the Medicaid statute relating directly to payments for school administrative and transportation costs since 1989.

In only one instance provider taxes has Congress made a change in the Medicaid statute in this past decade, and that change does not support the harmful changes you propose in your March 23 rule.

In that red folder is a compilation of Social Security

Act in the red cover. The Medicaid statute begins at page 1677, where there is a yellow sticker. Could you show us where in the Medicaid Act Congress has specifically directed CMS to issue the rules you propose that we are discussing this morning, other than the provider tax rule?

Mr. SMITH. Well, I think the Medicaid statute, itself, has a number of provisions that instruct the Agency to assure that there is a match rate that Congress has established by statute that is updated every year. There is a provision in the Medicaid statute that specifically excludes payments under Medicaid for things that are not Medicaid services. So there are provisions in the Secretary's authority to review State plans, to whether or not those State plans are consistent with the efficiency and economy of Federal reimbursement. So there are a number of provisions in the statute to give us the authority to do what we have done.

Chairman WAXMAN. I just must disagree with you very strongly. I don't see anything in the statute that allows you to decide what is Medicaid eligible and what is not Medicaid eligible. I see nothing that allows you to withdraw \$11 billion in Federal Medicaid funds from the States.

It looks to me like you have just decided to take matters into your own hands. It is a blatant disregard of the prerogative of Congress to make major changes in Federal Medicaid policy. If you want changes, you should propose

them. If you propose them and Congress doesn't agree with them, you don't have the ability, in my view, to just come in and propose them by way of rule-making. I regret sincerely that matters have come to this point, and I strongly urge you to reconsider your course.

Mr. SMITH. Mr. Chairman, if I may, in particular, be able to give you the exact cite, in terms of the cost rule that we have discussed this morning and the impact on the hospitals and the States, et cetera, again, through State plan amendments, which we have the obligation to review, 1902(a)(2) specifically says that the State match must be assured by the State, that it requires 'Federal participation by the State equal to all of such non-Federal share, or provide for the distribution of funds, et cetera.''

That does tell me when a State submits a State plan amendment to increase reimbursement for a hospital, that it is my obligation to say I am willing to commit the Federal dollar, but show me your State dollar. That has been the genesis of the problems that we have been talking about in terms of recycling where providers are being required by the State or county government to return money that was meant to pay them for services provided to a Medicaid recipient.

Chairman WAXMAN. I have to move on to other Members, but Mr. Parrella testified that we have had an ongoing working relationship between the Federal Government and the States, a

partnership to provide care for the poorest among us for two decades, and some of these State plans are routine. You are taking routine State plans and then trying to jam through changes that Congress never intended, and I don't think you have the authority to do it.

Mr. Davis?

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Thank you very much.

Mr. Smith, if you wait for Congress to act on this, it is an airplane flying into the mountain. It is the fastest-growing part of the Federal budget. It is the fastest-growing part of State budgets. It is annual appropriations \$300 billion a year. That is more than the Defense budget. And we don't vote on it or touch it at this point in Congress. So I think you have a responsibility to make sure that the dollars are spent wisely, and I don't have a comment on these six proposals that you have made, but I think you have every right to get out there and put them out for comment and to see where the public is, who is going to get hurt.

It is not really a question of dollars; it is a question of services and, as you say, making sure that the taxpayers are getting their benefit on this.

It is a difficult job, but if you wait for Congress to act on this there won't be any money left in the budget.

This is the single fastest growing part of the Federal

2499 budget.

The cuts that they talk about, too, we are not talking about cutting Medicaid payments? The payments go up, don't they, every year? This is just a cut in anticipated growth; is that fair to say?

Mr. SMITH. You are correct, Mr. Davis. This is slowing the rate of growth. As Mr. Shays pointed out, we are talking about \$11 billion over five of which Federal spending will be over a trillion dollars in that time period.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. My understanding is that the Federal portion right now is set to go up \$16 billion in 2008, \$17 billion in 2009, \$21 billion in 2012. That is a lot of money as we go forward.

Health care is a complicated issue and we want to try to make sure that everybody gets served one way or another, but ultimately it is going to be a Congressional responsibility to try to sort that out.

I am as frustrated as you are by Congress' inability to act or give you appropriate direction. A blank check isn't the way to solve it.

Let me ask you this: it is projected that the cost of the Medicaid program will double in the next ten years. To the degree that States are inappropriately shifting costs to the Medicaid program because of the open-ended entitlement structure, what pressure does this add to the Medicaid

program and its ability to fulfill its mission to provide medical services to those that are most in need?

Mr. SMITH. Well, Mr. Davis, I think, again, part of it is overall health care and Medicaid's role in that. Clearly, health care in itself is increasing and continues to grow. That is part of that. Medicaid is a component of that larger system. To some extent it causes the increase, even in the private sector. General Schwarzenneger, for example, has talked about the increased pressure on the private sector because MediCal under-pays its providers. So there are relationships throughout the system.

It does put greater pressure on everyone. Some changes we have applauded and helped to lead.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. I mean, pressure is everywhere.

The providers that were here today, I think we all understand their frustration, as well. I hear from the providers, whether it is doctors or whether it is hospitals, in our area. Everybody is pressured under this current system.

One thing that was noted, they talked about hospital closing in one of the Members' District. Five hospitals were closed in San Diego County over the last three years just because of people coming across the border and presenting themselves at the emergency room.

This is a complicated issue.

Let me ask a couple questions. For the purposes of

clarifying the impact of harmonizing Medicaid's definition of outpatient services with that of Medicare, will those services that are no longer considered outpatient services no longer be reimbursed by Medicaid?

Mr. SMITH. No, sir. The issue is not whether or not a service will be paid for. Again, there are lots of services provided in an outpatient setting. We would continue to pay for those services.

The issue, though, again, as we saw in State plan amendments in asking States about what they were going to include in, what they were trying to do was basically inflate their upper payment limit for their outpatient hospital service. So it is not an issue whether or not you are going to pay for a clinic service; it is how it can be used to count towards potentially supplemental payments.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. To clarify the impact on transportation services and Medicaid, could you try to explain how the proposed rule affects the following:

First, transportation to school and back for non-school-aged children to receive medical services.

Mr. SMITH. For non-school-age, if they were receiving a medical service at the school, we would pay in that respect. Yes, sir.

Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Transportation from school to a community-based provider and back for medical services?

2574 Mr. SMITH. We would pay for that, Mr. Davis. 2575 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Okay. Coverage of medical equipment necessary for a disabled student, like a breathing 2576 apparatus or wheelchair, to be transported to and from the 2577 school? 2578 Mr. SMITH. In that respect, an individual is going to 2579 have their own. A child who is on a respirator has the need 2580 for a respirator before school, during school--2581 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Do you cover the equipment, 2582 2583 though? Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir. 2584 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Some of that equipment would be 2585 covered by you, and that would continue to be covered? 2586 2587 Mr. SMITH. That would already have been paid for by 2588 Medicaid. 2589 Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. Do you think that some of the services included in therapeutic foster care, when unbundled, 2590 will continue to be covered by Medicaid? 2591 2592 Mr. SMITH. Again, Mr. Davis, that is the issue in terms 2593 of when we are asking the States what are the components of 2594 what they mean. Therapeutic foster care is kind of a catch-all term, and different States are giving it different 2595 meanings. But in terms of services, and particularly for 2596 2597 individuals that are mental health services, et cetera, those 2598 are all covered services. It is the components that, as I

2599 suggested, pushing the corners of the envelope--Mr. DAVIS OF VIRGINIA. My time is up. Real quick, 2600 conceptually what would be covered and what wouldn't be 2601 2602 covered? Do you have any concept of what you would be likely 2603 to approve and what you wouldn't in an unbundled--Mr. SMITH. Again, when you are providing mental health 2604 2605 counseling, when you are providing intensive mental health 2606 services, but when you are going and pushing to say therapeutic foster care also means child care or some other 2607 type of more of a social service, we would push back. 2608 2609 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Davis. 2610 Mr. Davis? Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Thank you very much, Mr. 2611 Thank you, Mr. Smith. 2612 Chairman. 2613 Mr. Smith, in recent speeches the President has repeatedly said that the Administration has a clear 2614 principle; that is, put poor children first. Medicaid is the 2615 2616 program that insures the poorest children in America. 2617 you tell me how prohibiting public school nurses from 2618 enrolling kids in Medicaid is putting that principle of putting poor children first? 2619 Mr. SMITH. Happy to respond, Mr. Davis. 2620 2621 One of the issues that we face is in the administration and training side of what is being claimed. It is very 2622 2623 difficult to actually establish what is happening when we pay

that. School-based administration really is concentrated on only a handful of States. Whether or not what they are doing with those funds is widely discussed, GAO has done studies and acknowledged that there were abuses in that setting.

Through audits we are finding Medicaid paying for capital costs of schools because it is being hidden under administration, and Medicaid is being billed for indirect costs.

We obviously want every child who is eligible to be signed up. I have had discussions with California, one of those States. Illinois uses school-based administration.

Those two States combined account for 40 percent of all of the school administrative costs that Medicaid is being paid for.

But if you want to sign a child up at school, which I have suggested to California, have the social workers take their laptop down to school on Tuesday afternoons and enroll people.

Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. You express a number of allegations in your response. Could you tell me what sources of data CMS relied on to develop this proposed rule with respect to both school-based administrative claiming and transportation services?

Mr. SMITH. In terms of what data we have?
Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Yes.

Mr. SMITH. The data reporting is uneven because there are different line items in the Medicaid service categories and in administrative costs. There is not a school-based, per se, so we are, to a large extent, relying on the States on how they are reporting what they are doing. But in terms of informing our decision, going forward our Inspector General reports, our own financial management reviews, prior GAO reports. I know Marjorie was here previously and wasn't aware of whether GAO had spoken to school administration, but they did do a report in 2000.

Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Well, in this 2000 GAO report on school-based Medicaid services, it was indicated that what was then, of course, HCFA was providing confusing and inconsistent guidance across regions and had failed to prevent improper practices and claims in some States. I guess my question becomes: what activities has CMS engaged in to improve such oversight of school-based administrative claiming in response to this GAO report.

Mr. SMITH. Again, the way States typically talk to us is through their State plan amendments. As State plan amendments come in to us, we discuss those with the States, what is being covered, what is not.

We did release a school-based administration claiming guide in 2003 to clarify, for example, on the match rate on skilled medical personnel.

We have States out there claiming without State plan 2674 2675 amendments. We have States out there claiming, saying that 2676 the non-Federal share is being paid for with certified public 2677 expenditures. We ask where are the certified public 2678 expenditures to show that, in fact, the cost has been 2679 incurred in the first place, that there was a non-Federal Quite frankly, States are often in difficulty 2680 2681 producing such documentation. 2682 So we have been increasingly uncomfortable that this is 2683 an area that Medicaid is being appropriately making payments, 2684 whether or not there is sufficient accountability. That is 2685 my concern, that there is not. 2686 Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. So you can trust the Medicaid 2687 employees but not the school employees? Mr. SMITH. Mr. Davis, I think that there are a number of 2688 2689 examples to where schools and the Medicaid agency, even at 2690 the State level, don't see eye to eye. 2691 Mr. DAVIS OF ILLINOIS. Thank you very much. 2692 Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 2693 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Davis. 2694 Mr. Murphy? 2695 Mr. MURPHY. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I guess I want to talk about what is happening in the 2696 2697 real world out there, which is that you simply can't take a 2698 look at the cuts that are being made in Medicaid and make

statements such as the one that you have made, or at least that the agency has made, that special education funds should be taken care of by the Education Department or that services for people with mental illness should be the purview of SAMHSA and disease prevention should be in public health without figuring out that the Federal funds flowing to those programs are receiving the same, if not worse, cuts than you are seeing under the ones proposed by these regulations.

It would be one thing if the cuts you were proposing now were being made up in increased or even stable funding in burn grant funding, juvenile justice funding, in IDEA funding, in maternal and child health block grant funding. But the fact is that at the same time that these regulations are being proposed, the very Federal funds that might assist States in trying to find other avenues of funding have been cut, as well, even with more Draconian cuts.

So I guess the question is this: when you are taking a look at these cuts and making claims that these services should be picked up by other State programs, is there any effort to take a look at the other Federal programs that fund those services? And is there any recognition of the fact that those funds coming from the Federal Government that could potentially supplement States in order to make up for your cuts are experiencing even more drastic cuts? I mean, is there any view towards that big a picture?

Mr. SMITH. Thank you, Mr. Murphy. Again, in terms of service, Medicaid services that Medicaid covers that is a medically necessary service, again, we are saying yes to bill Medicaid for that individual and we will pay for it.

Oftentimes, as I said, we are being stretched beyond that.

I think, to some extent, again, because there are differences among States and local agencies where these services, programs vary across the country, what we often find it is it started at the local or State level and there is--again, if you have a successful program that you believe is working, that is effective, that is helpful in that individual's life, you support that program.

Medicaid usually comes later, because then they are saying now we have this program but we are paying for it with our own dollars, but if we call it Medicaid--and, Mr. Murphy, there are agencies, there are companies out there, that is their business, for helping States to maximize Federal revenue and helping States to say call it Medicaid. Now what was 100 percent State or local funded, we can now cut it in half because we have called it Medicaid.

Mr. MURPHY. With all due respect, sir, I don't think that is what is happening, at least in Connecticut and many other States, that there are these rampant abuses happening of things just being called Medicaid. There are, in Connecticut's case, legitimate rehabilitative services that

were covered fully with State dollars for years and now there is a choice being made to take advantage of what has, for a very long time, been an available Medicaid match.

I guess you continue to provide testimony this afternoon regarding all these abuses. The solution then seems to be to cut out eligibility of those services rather than to spend some effort and finances and resources to root out the abuses that are happening and make sure that we do not reimburse for those.

So it is a little hard to understand why we aren't here talking about ratcheting up the ability of CMS to root out abuse and fraudulent billing, rather than simply saying it is too hard to figure out whether these administrative costs are really being used for signing up kids or whether they are being used to build walls, and so we are just not going to cover it any more. Why don't we spend more time actually finding out who is abusing the system and allow those who are doing it right to still gain the benefit of the Medicaid match.

Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir. And we are trying to do both. I mean, we certainly want, through management reviews, through OIG audits, want to get the abusing also, but it is also everybody does want to know what the rules are and make sure all the rules apply to everyone. If in region one the Federal Government shouldn't be saying yes that is a

rehabilitative service in region one, but in region nine it is not. That shouldn't happen, and that is, again, part of the rationale for rule-making in the first place, to make certain everybody does have the same understanding.

Mr. MURPHY. And I think that this Committee and this Congress would look forward to engaging in a process by which we standardize some of those understandings rather than using the non-standardization as an excuse to simply cut off funding.

The last thing I will say, Mr. Chairman, is that I do think that there needs to be a little bit more real-world experience put into these rules, whether it is the reality of what these new foster care guidelines will mean for families that are now going to have to maintain very detailed and complicated billing standards, whether it is the statement that you made that you should settle this question for California by simply sending a social worker down with a laptop. Well, in my State we don't have enough money to give laptops to all of our social workers, and the fact that they have more and more to do means that they have less and less time to go down to the school.

The reality on the ground is that these school districts, these social service departments are stretched so thin, these parents who are taking on these very complex children with very complex illnesses are stretched so thin,

both emotionally and logistically, that this is going to be 2799 2800 very, very hard to implement, and I think very, very hard to 2801 understand for people that have less and less resources to do it with.

I yield back the balance of my time.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Murphy.

Mr. Shays?

2802

28.03

2804

2805

2806

2807

2808

2809

2810

2811

2812

2813

2814

2815

2816

2817

2818

2819

2820

2821

2822

2823

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you. Again, Mr. Chairman, thank you for having this hearing.

The sky isn't falling in. We are talking about \$11 billion savings in the increase over five years. We will spend a grand total in the next five years of \$1,258 billion, and it would be \$11 billion more if you didn't make these savings. So there is a part of me that wants to know why you aren't doing a better job of getting savings, not to blame you for finding 9/10ths of 1 percent in a budget.

There is no undeclared war on the part of the Bush Administration. I voted for the health care bill, CHIPs bill for young people, but the President had legitimate arguments. He said it shouldn't go to illegal aliens, he said it shouldn't go to adults, and he said we should be trying to get those children who are the poorest of the poor that are still part of the program. So I think the President's position, while it is not one that I voted for because I want to expand the program, is not one that says we are declaring

2824 | war against kids.

Let me ask you, with regard to inter-government transfers, can you speak to what challenges the inter-governmental transfers involving public, non-governmental hospitals raises for CMS, both from a fiscal integrity of the Medicaid program point of view and from conducting oversight of the use of Medicaid funds?

Mr. SMITH. Yes, Mr. Shays.

Again, let me hasten to say there is an inter-governmental transfer recognized in the Medicaid statute that is permissible. What it means by that is the State can share its cost with local government. That is perfectly fine. We are not challenging that. But what has been termed inter-governmental transfer, we have generally been referring to it as recycling. With a provider in 1903, I believe, Congress put a limitation that says non-governmental entities cannot pay the State's share. I am simplifying it, but basically the taxes and donations provision.

What was happening with non-governmental entities were payments were being made and then payments were being returned. We are looking at that as recycling, because we are saying what should we match. If the bill was presented to us for \$100, that a service was provided for \$100 and in a 50/50 State like Connecticut State paid \$50, we paid \$50, but

HGO305.000 129 PAGE

2849

we find out on the back end that the hospital or the nursing 2850 home returned, after they got paid, returned \$25 back to the 2851 county or the State government. 2852 Mr. SHAYS. So in essence the Federal Government was 2853 paying more of the cost than 50 percent? 2854 Mr. SMITH. Correct. 2855 Mr. SHAYS. Let me ask you another question. With regard 2856 to rehabilitation services, school transportation, school 2857 administrative costs, hospital outpatient services, and 2858 graduate medical education, the Chairman said, if I heard him 2859 correctly, that these programs were going to be discontinued. 2860 Is Medicaid eliminating these services for eligible 2861 beneficiaries? 2862 Mr. SMITH. No, sir. Medical services that are medically 2863 necessary will continue to be covered. 2864 Mr. SHAYS. And does CMS anticipate that these changes will result in the denial of services? 2865 2866 Mr. SMITH. There should not be being denied services 2867 because we clearly are saying we will pay our share for those 2868 services. 2869 Mr. SHAYS. Let me ask you another question. On the first panel we heard from Ms. Barbara Miller about how 2870 2871 important Medicaid rehabilitation services were to bringing 2872 her to where she is today. Can you speak to how, either 2873 under this proposed rule or under other aspects of the

Medicaid program, maybe through waiver authorities, such

2874

2885

2886

2887

2888

2889

2890

2891

2892

2893

2894

2895

2896

2897

2898

2875 services as psychiatric rehabilitation will still be covered? 2876 Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir. It will take a little bit of an 2877 explanation, if you will forgive me. Rehabilitative services in terms of what she spoke so eloquently about, what is 2878 called assertive community treatment -- and I have stated 2879 2880 publicly and to all types of audiences that assertive community treatment is a model of care and it is a model of 2881 2882 care that we do presently support, and we have said we are 2883 willing to support. We recently released a State Medicaid 2884 director letter again that is very pertinent to people with

So, again, there are models of care that we currently support, that we believe we will continue to support under the rehabilitative services issue.

is available for peer counseling.

mental illness on peers of saying that Medicaid reimbursement

The habilitation side to where you are getting into--it is not rehabilitation, but habilitation, such as an adult day center, that really belongs to the other side of the Medicaid program of home and community-based waivers, which really is more of a social support mechanism to pay for those things to help people stay in the community, but they are not rehabilitative services. They are not medical services.

So States have that option, as well, for individuals to do adult--if you have a program for adult day program, that

belongs on over on the home and community-based services side of the program and we would continue to support that if that is what the State chose to do.

Mr. SHAYS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Shays. We give a lot of options to States and everybody else to come up with money that the Federal Government won't buy. Or States also have the option of saying no, they don't have the money.

Mr. Cooper?

Mr. COOPER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And thanks to all the witnesses on both panels.

I think the only thing we all can agree on is that no one would want Dennis Smith's job. It is a tough one.

Everybody here knows that this is not just a hearing on whether we have illegally aggressive regulations being promulgated. The hearing is really about the collapse of the U.S. health care system, and this is just evidence of it. Rather than focus on the negative, I think it is important to recognize that we all have a responsibility in this collapse.

I was struck by the testimony on the earlier panel of Drs. Gardner and Retchin, particularly the emergency room story, but Congress passed the law years ago and made it an unfunded Federal mandate. We require hospitals to see most all comers--you can go on diversion--and we didn't pay them

2924 for it. We are surprised that the number of ERs in America 2925 have gone down relative to the needy population?

There are so many other aspects of this problem. We really need hearings like this every day for years to try to get to the bottom of it.

I am from a State that has been guilty of gaming the Medicaid system. I am embarrassed by that. As we took our legitimate 65 to 67 percent match, in some years we made it 92 percent. Why? Because we wanted to and we could get away with it. That doesn't make it right.

These six regulations, I don't think nobody here is defending them. You still have to because you work for the Administration, but it is amazing that in such a giant program that only \$11 billion of savings was found.

I am not suggesting that these are the best ways, but this is such a fly speck of a larger problem. It is almost embarrassing.

The Comptroller General of the United States, David Walker, has written that we face \$50 trillion in outstanding obligations, mainly health care. Today we have no idea how to fund those.

And not a penny of that \$50 trillion is Medicaid, because we don't even have the analytical tools to describe the hole that we are in in Medicaid. Some analysts, like Hal Jackson of Harvard, say that these problems are getting worse

to the rate of \$3 trillion or \$4 trillion a year. Of course,
the President denies that because he doesn't want the broader
measure of our deficit problems.

But that means that any reform proposal that would gain ground on this problem would have to save more than \$3 trillion or \$4 trillion a year. That is unimaginable. I don't know of any group in this Country who has come up with a reform proposal of that scale.

Meanwhile, we are like the blind men of Hindustan. You know, we see a portion of the problem and each complain fiercely it looks like a snake to one, a tree trunk to another, a wall to another, and in fact it is an elephant. And we can get mad at each other and finger point and complain and all that, but meanwhile we are confronted by an elephant, and I don't see many people in Congress or outside of Congress that are doing much about it. We need comprehensive health care reform that looks at all aspects of the problem, because Medicaid is one of our most important programs.

The Chairman of this Committee helped build this program. Committee staff helped build this program. It is painful for them to see it dismantled piecemeal, because piecemeal solutions don't work for anybody--patients, doctors, law makers, families.

So it is hard to get at all these issues, and I know I

just have a short period of time, but one of the unspoken issues in this hearing is federalism. Under Medicaid we give States so much leeway. I can't help but know the irony that there is Dr. Retchin sitting behind you and he used to run Virginia Medicaid. Dr. Gardner has her former governor, now president of the United States, from Texas, and Texas is one of the States that has pioneered specialty hospitals that have no emergency rooms. The national case recently of the person who was dying in a Texas specialty hospital, had to call 9-1-1 because there was no emergency treatment in a Texas hospital because Texas law allows that to happen, why is that?

Now, do we need to override State flexibility? That is an outrage. Yet, it is happening more and more across our Country. And that is not technically a U.S. responsibility. The State did it.

Texas has more uninsured children, I think, than almost any other State in America, 25 percent. What an embarrassment. Texas is not a poor State, but they are not taking care of their own kids. Is that our fault?

So there are all these problems we are not beginning to deal with as a Nation, and I just have five minutes to make a quick statement, but, for the written record, I would like from you the policy choices that you could have made instead of these six regs, because there have to be other better ways

2999 to save money in the Medicaid program. We spend \$2 trillion 3000 on health care in America, yet no one wants to give up a penny of what they are receiving, and yet we don't have the 3001 3002 best health care in the world. So I would just like to know, from the menu of choices, why you all came up with this \$11 billion and which choices you rejected.

[The information to be provided follows:]

****** COMMITTEE INSERT ******

3003

3004

3005

3006

3007 Mr. COOPER. I see that my time has expired, Mr. 3008 Chairman. Thank you. 3009 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Cooper. Mr. Cummings? 3010 3011 Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 3012 Mr. Smith, it is good to see you again. 3013 Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir. 3014 Mr. CUMMINGS. As you know, on October 18, 2007, President Bush issued the Homeland Security Presidential 3015 3016 Directive No. 21. You are familiar with that, are you not? 3017 Mr. SMITH. [No audible response.] 3018 Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, let me tell you what it says. 3019 look a bit confused. This directive is intended to establish 3020 a national strategy for public health and medical preparedness that will "transform our national approach to 3021 3022 protecting the health of the American people against all disasters.'' 3023 3024 Directive 21 instructs the Secretary of Health and Human 3025 Services to undertake several critical tasks. Among these 3026 are two of particular relevance to our hearing today. 3027 first deals with medical surge capacity that we have heard a 3028 bit about during the first panel. Of course, that is the ability of the hospitals and the public health systems to 3029 3030 treat large numbers of casualties in a short span of time. 3031 The second instructs the Secretary to ''identify any

legal, regulatory, or other barriers to public health and medical preparedness in response from Federal, State, or local government or private sector sources that can be eliminated by appropriate regulatory or legislative action."

Based on what we heard from the physicians on the first panel, it seems clear that your proposed regulations constitute a significant legal and regulatory barrier to public health and medical preparedness and response, and, as such, they appear to violate the President's own directive.

How do you respond to those concerns?

Mr. SMITH. Mr. Cummings, in terms of the cost regulation that we have proposed, as I have tried to explain, our policy says the hospital or nursing home or whomever is actually providing the service should get paid and get to keep the money for the service they provided. I don't see that as a conflict with what you have just described.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Did you hear I think it was Dr. Gardner's testimony when she talked about--

Mr. SMITH. I did, sir. Yes.

Mr. CUMMINGS. How does that strike you that anybody sitting in this room--we have got, I guess, about 100 people in here--anybody could get sick down there in Texas, I think it is, and be in a position where the patient that she talked about, not even able to get a bed. Does that bother you? I mean, when you hear things like that, does it make you think

about that when you go to bed at night and put your family to 3057 3058 bed? Do you say to yourself, Boy, it is kind of hard for me to sleep thinking that there are people in the United States, 3059 3060 some of them my own neighbors, who might be placed in that 3061 position? Mr. SMITH. Mr. Cummings, I have devoted most of my 3062 career to public service. I do it precisely for people who 3063 3064 need the support and help of their neighbors. 3065 Mr. CUMMINGS. And so you sleep well at night? Mr. SMITH. Yes, sir, I do. 3066 Mr. CUMMINGS. I see. So you feel, as far as these 3067 3068 directives are concerned, when it comes to the graduates, the 3069 graduate schools, does that concern you that we may have some 3070 problems there? You heard the testimony about them? Mr. SMITH. Health care has many different parts to it, 3071 3072 and I absolutely want to make certain Medicaid does its part, 3073 but to take on the responsibility of other functions, 3074 programs, et cetera, there are lots of different choices on 3075 how to address the graduate medical situation and the 3076 hospitals, themselves, that participate in it. For example, in New York, as New York was one of the 3077 3078 previous witnesses, New York has a \$3 billion 3079 disproportionate share hospital system. They could use that

previous witnesses, New York has a \$3 billion
disproportionate share hospital system. They could use that
entire amount for indigent care, but that is a choice that
New York makes in the Federal-State partnership.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Well, I am going to conclude because I see we are running out of time and I see that Mr. Kucinich is here, but it seems clear that your agency's rule-making will harm disaster preparedness in many of our Nation's cities and undermine Federal efforts to strengthen medical surge capacity for pandemic flu, bioterrorism, and other public health threats. At a time when the Congress is providing the Department of HHS billions to enhance emergency preparedness, your agency, in my opinion, is undermining key elements of our Nation's preparedness infrastructure.

I have often said that when we come to positions that we should make them better. I know that you are going to leave here saying that you are going to probably make it better, but I am telling you, after your tenure I think it will be worse. I hate to say that. And I do pray for you as you sleep in peace.

Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. Kucinich?

3105 l

Mr. KUCINICH. Thank you. I want to thank my colleague, Mr. Cummings. I would ask him if he has a moment if he can stay, because these questions relate to something you and I have worked on together.

Mr. Smith, in May you appeared before the Domestic

Policy Subcommittee of this Committee, which I am the Chair

of the Subcommittee, at a hearing on the serious failures to

provide dental services to children in Medicaid in general and the resultant death of a child in Maryland, Deamonte Driver. At the time you said you would check on the actual services available in Maryland. Since that time, the Subcommittee did its own research, including an audit of United Health Group's claims records in the county where Deamonte Driver lived and died.

Here is what my Subcommittee found: that Deamonte Driver was one of over 10,780 Medicaid eligible children in Maryland who are enrolled in United Health's Medicaid Managed Care Organization and who had not seen a dentist in four or more consecutive years. Only seven dentists provided 55 percent of total service to United beneficiaries in Prince George's County, Maryland. Nineteen dentists listed in United's dental network provided zero services to eligible children in Prince George's County, Maryland.

Twenty-two dentists listed by United provided services to only one child merely a single time, and 45 dentists care for eligible children less than 10 times in Prince George's County, Maryland, and 7 dentists were unreachable by phone.

These findings are appalling, but at least one thing has changed: United Health no longer denies the truth about the inadequacies of their provider network in Prince George's County, Maryland. On October 18, they wrote a letter to me in which they conceded that my Subcommittee's findings were

accurate. They said, ''We concur with the majority staff's 3132 3133 findings.'' My question for you, Mr. Smith, is, would you please 3134 tell this Committee if CMS had conducted an audit of United 3135 Health and was aware of the specific inadequacies of United's 3136 dental provider network prior to our Subcommittee hearing? 3137 Mr. SMITH. Prior to your hearing we had not looked at 3138 3139 the individual records. Mr. KUCINICH. Since the hearing has CMS conducted an 3140 audit? 3141 Mr. SMITH. I spoke with counsel beforehand. I would be 3142 happy to speak with you off the record, if that would be 3143 3144 fine. Mr. KUCINICH. You took an oath. 3145 Mr. SMITH. I did take an oath. 3146 Mr. KUCINICH. Has CMS conducted an audit? 3147 Mr. SMITH. We are taking additional steps, Mr. Kucinich. 3148 Mr. KUCINICH. What about the findings? 3149 Mr. SMITH. The findings, sir, are not in at this point. 3150 We have not made a final determination. 3151 Mr. KUCINICH. Will you provide this Committee all 3152 documents and findings within two weeks? 3153 3154 Mr. SMITH. I don't expect it will be completed by then, Mr. Kucinich, but when we are completed we will be happy to 3155 share the information we have with the Subcommittee, with the 3156

3157 full Committee. Mr. KUCINICH. Will you provide them in four weeks? 3158 Mr. SMITH. [No audible response.] 3159 Mr. KUCINICH. Six weeks? Eight weeks? Three months? 3160 Four months? When will you provide this Committee with the 3161 3162 information that you claim you are trying to get that 3163 reflects upon the death of a young man? When will you 3164 provide us with the information? Mr. SMITH. I will furnish it as soon as it is completed. 3165 3166 I will furnish you all the records that we have. I am not 3167 certain when this will be conducted. I expect it will be 3168 done before the end of the year. Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Chairman and Mr. Smith, Mr. Smith, we 3169 know how bad the problem is in the State of Maryland and we 3170 know where you were before our Committee hearing. We are 3171 3172 wondering what a national audit would show. Has CMS 3173 undertaken a national audit in this regard? Mr. SMITH. We are looking at other States, Mr. Kucinich. 3174 3175 Mr. KUCINICH. Will you provide this Committee all documents and findings on those audits? 3176 3177 Mr. SMITH. I am happy to provide what we find. Mr. KUCINICH. How many other States, sir? 3178 Mr. SMITH. We have just started another State. We are 3179 looking at States to look beyond that in terms of where to go 3180 after that. 3181

Mr. KUCINICH. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to 3182 have another minute. 3183 3184 Chairman WAXMAN. Okay. Mr. KUCINICH. I would just say that our Subcommittee is 3185 going to be relentless on this, Mr. Smith. You are not going 3186 to be able to avoid--unanimous consent, Mr. Chairman, for 3187 another minute. My time has expired. 3188 Chairman WAXMAN. I am sorry. The problem we have now is 3189 we have a vote. 3190 Mr. KUCINICH. I just want to conclude then by saying 3191 that you are not going to be able to avoid the scrutiny of 3192 our Subcommittee or, I am sure, of this full Committee. 3193 There is a little boy in Maryland who died. We are not going 3194 to have any more children dying because CMS has not done 3195 3196 effective oversight of these people who are providing care in the name of the Government of the United States, period. 3197 3198 Mr. SMITH. Mr. Kucinich, if I may, Mr. Chairman, I think the work of the Subcommittee was extremely helpful and 3199 3200 important, and I hope that you would view us as working 3201 together on the problem rather than seeing us as an adversary on this issue, because I do not feel that way. I think that 3202 3203 we share the same interest. Mr. KUCINICH. I agree. We are going to work together. 3204 Chairman WAXMAN. Mr. Engel, do you have some questions 3205 3206 you want to ask in the short time we have left?

Mr. ENGEL. Yes, thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me thank you for allowing me to participate. I know there is a vote on, so rather than ask all the questions I just want to make a very brief statement.

I want to thank you for your leadership. Obviously, I have also been very troubled by the recent rules proposed by CMS and from what I consider their absolute disregard for Congress. Major Medicaid reforms require a Congressional role, and by rushing to publish these regulations CMS, in my opinion, has disregarded Congressional opposition and attempted to usurp Congress' role and, more importantly, CMS appears to have no regard for our safety net providers and the low income people whose health care would be decimated if these rules were allowed to come to be inactive.

As you discussed today, CMS issued a proposed Medicaid regulation that, in my opinion, threatens public hospitals' ability to deliver vital services and stand ready in the case of a natural disaster or public emergency. This regulation would cut at least \$4 billion in Medicaid funding to safety net hospitals nationwide over five years, and CMS subsequently added and issued an additional regulation that would force billions of dollars in Medicaid payment reductions to teaching hospitals, many of whom are public hospitals, which hampers the ability of these providers to provide essential services, including the education of the

next generation of medical professionals, despite a shortage of medical professionals.

While we have a one year moratorium in place until next May on staying these regulations, if we don't act soon, States, hospitals, and safety net providers are going to have to prepare for the worse, which is catastrophic draft and funding. That is why I introduced H.R. 3533, which has been mentioned several times here today, the Public and Teaching Hospitals Preservation Act, which I am proud to say has 143 bipartisan co-sponsors. You, Mr. Chairman, have been instrumental.

Mr. Smith, I am just wondering if you could please submit to me for the record. It is not possible--some of our colleagues said it before--with the financial pressure these institutions face, these public hospital systems, to sustain these kinds of sweeping cuts, so I would like you to, in writing, tell me how you expect safety net providers that provide essential care to hundreds of thousands of patients that walk through their doors to continue delivering this care. It is just not possible. It is not possible.

And the second question is: the teaching hospitals in my home State of New York currently receive \$1.2 billion in Medicaid GME, graduate medical education, payments annually. If your proposal to eliminate Medicaid GME payments is implemented, you will be essentially cutting medical

education payments to New York by 40 percent. We have 15 3257 percent of the teaching hospitals in the Country, so it is 3258 simply a devastating cut to the teaching hospitals in New 3259 3260 York; indeed, to the Country, and hospitals across the State. So I do not understand why the Administration is pulling 3261 support away from training America's future doctors, 3262 3263 particularly at a time when there was a well-documented 3264 physicians' shortage looming. If each payer isn't expected to contribute its fair 3265 share, who is expected to make up the difference? 3266 3267 I will take it in writing, but I just think these are unconscionable. 3268 Mr. SMITH. We will be happy to respond, sir. 3269 [The information to be provided follows:] 3270

****** COMMITTEE INSERT ******

3271

3272 Ms. MALL. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

3273 Chairman WAXMAN. Thank you, Mr. Engel.

Mr. Smith, as we conclude, your proposals would have the impact of reducing payment to the States by \$11 billion over the next five years. The costs that these Federal dollars now pay for will not magically disappear. People with mental illness will still need rehabilitation services, school-age children will still need health care. But under your proposed rules, the Federal Government will no longer pay for many of these costs. In other words, what is being proposed is a massive cost shift from the Federal Government to the States, the largest Medicaid regulatory cost shift in memory, and Medicaid has always been a Federal-State partnership.

Secondly, these proposed rules will result in major disruptions in the State Medicaid programs. Some of these rules threaten key elements of our Nation's health care infrastructure and could harm emergency preparedness. These effects are not well understood because CMS has not done any State by State specific analysis of the impact of its regulation. Perhaps this is because CMS does not have the necessary information, perhaps it is because CMS doesn't want to know. In either case, it is very troubling.

I hope, Mr. Smith, that you or Secretary Leavitt will be moved by what we have learned today and direct CMS to withdraw these proposed rules. If it does not, it will be up

to the Congress to take the necessary measures to protect States, hospitals, physicians, and Medicaid beneficiaries from these reckless proposals.

I think you understand where we are coming from, what we feel about this. There is a great deal of intensity. I have to tell you, I don't recall your being elected to any office to write the laws. We were. If you are acting improperly, we will have to take appropriate measures to make sure the laws are enforced, not denigrated.

Thank you for being here. Thanks to the first panel, as well. That concludes our hearing. The meeting stands adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 2:05 p.m., the committee was adjourned.]